# GLOBAL REPORT ON THE EPIDEMIOLOGY AND BURDEN OF SEPSIS

Current evidence, identifying gaps and future directions





Global report on the epidemiology and burden of sepsis: current evidence, identifying gaps and future directions

ISBN 978-92-4-001078-9 (electronic version) ISBN 978-92-4-001079-6 (print version)

#### © World Health Organization 2020

Some rights reserved. This work is available under the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-ShareAlike 3.0 IGO licence (CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO; <u>https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-sa/3.0/igo</u>).

Under the terms of this licence, you may copy, redistribute and adapt the work for non-commercial purposes, provided the work is appropriately cited, as indicated below. In any use of this work, there should be no suggestion that WHO endorses any specific organization, products or services. The use of the WHO logo is not permitted. If you adapt the work, then you must license your work under the same or equivalent Creative Commons licence. If you create a translation of this work, you should add the following disclaimer along with the suggested citation: "This translation was not created by the World Health Organization (WHO). WHO is not responsible for the content or accuracy of this translation. The original English edition shall be the binding and authentic edition".

Any mediation relating to disputes arising under the licence shall be conducted in accordance with the mediation rules of the World Intellectual Property Organization (<u>http://www.wipo.int/amc/en/mediation/rules/</u>).

**Suggested citation.** Global report on the epidemiology and burden of sepsis: current evidence, identifying gaps and future directions. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2020. Licence: <u>CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO</u>.

Cataloguing-in-Publication (CIP) data. CIP data are available at http://apps.who.int/iris.

**Sales, rights and licensing.** To purchase WHO publications, see <u>http://apps.who.int/bookorders</u>. To submit requests for commercial use and queries on rights and licensing, see <u>http://www.who.int/about/licensing</u>.

**Third-party materials.** If you wish to reuse material from this work that is attributed to a third party, such as tables, figures or images, it is your responsibility to determine whether permission is needed for that reuse and to obtain permission from the copyright holder. The risk of claims resulting from infringement of any third-party-owned component in the work rests solely with the user.

**General disclaimers.** The designations employed and the presentation of the material in this publication do not imply the expression of any opinion whatsoever on the part of WHO concerning the legal status of any country, territory, city or area or of its authorities, or concerning the delimitation of its frontiers or boundaries. Dotted and dashed lines on maps represent approximate border lines for which there may not yet be full agreement.

The mention of specific companies or of certain manufacturers' products does not imply that they are endorsed or recommended by WHO in preference to others of a similar nature that are not mentioned. Errors and omissions excepted, the names of proprietary products are distinguished by initial capital letters.

All reasonable precautions have been taken by WHO to verify the information contained in this publication. However, the published material is being distributed without warranty of any kind, either expressed or implied. The responsibility for the interpretation and use of the material lies with the reader. In no event shall WHO be liable for damages arising from its use.

Graphic design: Maraltro.

# GLOBAL REPORT ON THE EPIDEMIOLOGY AND BURDEN OF SEPSIS

Current evidence, identifying gaps and future directions



## Contents

- 5 Foreword
- 6 Acknowledgements
- 8 Abbreviations and acronyms
- **9** Glossary of key terms and definitions
- **12** Executive summary
- **14** Part 1. Introduction and background
- **16** Part 2. Available evidence on global sepsis epidemiology
- 16 2.1 Global estimates of sepsis
- 25 2.2 Global estimates of neonatal sepsis
- 29 2.3 Global estimates of maternal sepsis
- 35 2.4 Global estimates of health care-associated sepsis

## **38** Part 3. Methodologies and challenges in sepsis epidemiology research

- 38 3.1 Methodologies to estimate the epidemiology and burden of sepsis
- 41 3.2 Limitations in current estimates of burden of sepsis

## **44** Part 4. Directions and priorities for future sepsis epidemiology research

- 44 4.1 Achieving standardization in sepsis epidemiology research and closing existing gaps
- 4.2 Towards comprehensive global sepsis monitoring
- 51 Conclusions
- 52 References

## Foreword



In 2017, the 70th World Health Assembly adopted a historic resolution aiming to improve "the prevention, diagnosis and clinical management of sepsis". Member States and global health leaders recognized that suffering and death from sepsis can be prevented through early diagnosis, timely and appropriate treatment, and effective infection prevention and control measures. They also urged the World Health Organization (WHO) to draw attention to the public health impact of sepsis.

Sepsis contributes significantly to preventable mortality and is the final common pathway to death for severe infectious diseases; it can also arise as a complication of injuries and non-communicable diseases. As reflected in the Sustainable

Development Goals (target 3 in particular), reducing global mortality from infectious diseases, especially in fragile populations, builds upon our progress in preventing and treating sepsis effectively. Preventing sepsis also reduces the use of antimicrobials, thus curbing the threat related to antimicrobial resistance. As sepsis represents the negative evolution of any infection when not diagnosed early enough or not treated effectively, its prevention and appropriate management are linked to achieving quality care for all in the context of universal health coverage, improving country capacity to comply with the International Health Regulations (IHR 2005), developing health emergency preparedness, implementing appropriate infection prevention and control measures, and ensuring that water, sanitation and hygiene standards are met.

However, understanding the problem of sepsis and its magnitude is challenging. This is the first WHO report on the global epidemiology and burden of sepsis. It stems from original research and existing published evidence and represents the first ever comprehensive 'deep dive' on this topic. To best appraise the existing evidence, WHO established a multidisciplinary group of international experts to discuss the status and limitations of research to date, and to identify approaches and priorities for improvement.

According to available estimates, approximately 20% of all-cause global deaths are due to sepsis, disproportionately affecting neonates, pregnant or recently-pregnant women, and people living in low-resource settings. Yet, our current understanding of the epidemiology of sepsis remains limited, particularly where the burden is highest, and is hampered by poor data quality, which illustrates the urgent need for this report. Furthermore, our knowledge of sepsis pathophysiology, aetiological factors, and clinical progression has evolved over time, together with its definition. Thus, strengthening national capacity for better health information systems, vital statistics and administrative data is urgently needed.

In this report, we highlight the public health impact of sepsis, with a particular focus on specific populations and those seeking health care, and we propose future directions and priorities in sepsis epidemiology research. Sepsis has many faces and can be a life-threatening condition, but it is potentially preventable and reversible. Research and policy-makers must be ready to forge partnerships to stimulate funding and help place sepsis more firmly on the list of critical health conditions to target in the pursuit of universal health coverage.

#### **Dr Tedros Adhanom Ghebreyesus**

Director-General World Health Organization

## Acknowledgements

The Department of Integrated Health Services of the World Health Organization (WHO) gratefully acknowledges the contributions that many individuals and organizations have made to the development of this report.

#### Overall coordination, writing and design of the document

Alessandro Cassini and Benedetta Allegranzi (Department of Integrated Health Services, WHO) coordinated the development of this document. Alessandro Cassini led its writing and Benedetta Allegranzi, Carolin Fleischmann-Struzek (Jena University Hospital, Germany) and Teresa Kortz (Department of Integrated Health Services, WHO) significantly contributed to it. Robby Markwart (Robert Koch Institute, Germany) and Hiroki Saito (Department of Integrated Health Services, WHO) contributed to writing the chapter on the epidemiology of health care-associated sepsis.

The following WHO staff contributed to the writing of this document: Mercedes Bonet, Vanessa Brizuela, Hedieh Mehrtash, Özge Tuncalp Mingard and Ann-Beth Moller (Department of Sexual and Reproductive Health and Research); Ornella Lincetto, Saverio Bellizzi and Yasir Bin Nisar (Department of Maternal, Newborn, Child and Adolescent Health and Ageing); Bochen Cao, Robert Jakob and Nola Tomaska (Department of Data and Analytics); Sergey Eremin (Department of Antimicrobial Resistance [AMR] Surveillance, Prevention and Control); Philipp Lambach (Department of Immunization, Vaccines and Biologicals); and Francis Moussy (Department of Access to Medicines and Health Products).

#### Expert content development group

Consensus on the contents of this document was first gathered in a technical expert consultation in October 2019 in Geneva, Switzerland, with the participation of the following experts:

Massimo Antonelli (Catholic University, Rome, Italy); Arlene Chua (Médecins Sans Frontières [Doctors Without Borders], Switzerland); Bin Du (Peking Union Medical College Hospital, People's Republic of China); Tim Eckmanns (Robert Koch Institute, Germany); Simon Finfer (The George Institute for Global Health, United Kingdom [UK]); Anthony Fiore (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, United States of America [USA]); Caroline Fleischmann-Struzek (University Hospital Jena, Germany); Armand Girbes (Division of Scientific Affairs, European Society of Intensive Care Medicine, The Netherlands); Wendy Graham (London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine, UK); Shevin Jacob (Liverpool School of Tropical Medicine, Uganda); Carolina Jimenez (Médecins Sans Frontières [Doctors Without Borders], Spain); Halima Salisu Kabara (Aminu Kano Teaching Hospital, Nigeria); Niranjan "Tex" Kissoon (University of British Columbia, Canada); Kevin Lekuta (Institute for Health Metrics and Evaluation, USA); Flavia Machado (Federal University of São Paulo, Brazil); Mohsen Naghavi (Institute for Health Metrics and Evaluation, USA); Uduak Okomo (Medical Research Council Unit The Gambia at London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine, The Gambia); Konrad Reinhart (Charité Medical University, Germany); Nathalie Roos (Karolinska Institutet, Sweden); Hiroki Saito (St. Marianna University School of Medicine, Japan); Mike Sharland (St George's University Hospital, UK); João Paulo Souza (Universidade de São Paulo, Brazil).

The following WHO staff members also contributed as members of this group: Benedetta Allegranzi and Alessandro Cassini (Integrated Health Services); Rajiv Bahl, Ornella Lincetto, Yasin Nisar, Allisyn Moran and Wilson Were (Department of Maternal, Newborn, Child and Adolescent Health and Ageing); Mercedes Bonet, Vanessa Brizuela, Doris Chou, Özge Tuncalp Mingard, Ann-Beth Moller (Department of Sexual and Reproductive Health and Research); Bochen Cao, Robert Jakab and Nola Tomaska (Department of Data and Analytics); Janet Diaz (Department of Country Readiness Strengthening); Sergey Eremin (Department of AMR Surveillance, Prevention and Control); Francis Moussy and Sadia Shakoor (Department of Access to Medicines and Health Products).

#### External peer review group

The following experts provided external review of the report: Massimo Antonelli (Catholic University Rome, Italy); Arlene Chua (Médecins Sans Frontières [Doctors Without Borders], Switzerland); Ana Paula Coutinho Rehse (WHO Regional Office for Europe); Tim Eckmanns (Robert Koch Institute, Germany); Simon Finfer (The George Institute for Global Health, UK); Anthony Fiore (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, USA); Wendy Graham (London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine, UK); Shevin Jacob (Liverpool School of Tropical Medicine, Uganda); Carolina Jimenez (Médecins Sans Frontières [Doctors Without Borders], Spain); Halima Salisu Kabara (Aminu Kano Teaching Hospital, Nigeria); Niranjan "Tex" Kissoon (University of British Columbia, Canada); Flavia Machado (Federal University of São Paulo, Brazil); Mohsen Naghavi (Institute for Health Metrics and Evaluation, USA); Uduak Okomo (Medical Research Council Unit The Gambia at London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine, The Gambia); Pilar Ramon-Pardo (Pan American Health Organization); and Konrad Reinhart (Charité Medical University, Germany).

#### Acknowledgement of financial and other support

Core WHO funds supported the development and publication of this report. In addition, WHO also wishes to thank the Federal Ministry of Health (Federal Republic of Germany) for its generous financial support for the development and publication of the report. We also acknowledge funding for activities related to maternal health from the United Nations Development Programme (UNDP)–United Nations Population Fund (UNFPA)–United Nations Children's Fund (UNICEF)–WHO–World Bank Special Programme of Research, Development and Research Training in Human Reproduction, a co-sponsored programme executed by the WHO.

## Abbreviations and acronyms

AFRINEST	african neonatal sepsis trial
AMR	antimicrobial resistance
EOS	early onset sepsis
ESBL	extended spectrum beta-lactamase
GARDP	global antibiotic research and development partnership
GBD	global burden of disease, injuries, and risk factors
GLASS	global antimicrobial resistance surveillance system
GLOSS	global maternal sepsis study
HA-sepsis	health care-associated sepsis
HAI	health care-associated infection
HCW	health care worker
HDSS	health and demographic surveillance system
HIC	high-income country
ICD	international classification of diseases
ICU	intensive care unit
IHR	international health regulations
IPC	infection prevention and control
LMIC	low- and middle-income country
LOS	late onset sepsis
MCEE	maternal and child epidemiology estimation group
MCS	multi-country survey
MCS-A	multi-country survey on abortion
MDR	multidrug-resistant
MRSA	methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus
NCD	non-communicable disease
NICU	neonatal intensive care unit
PSBI	possible serious bacterial infection
SATT	simplified antibiotic therapy trial
SDG	sustainable development goals
SDI	sociodemographic index
SIRS	systemic inflammatory response syndrome
SMO	severe maternal outcome
SOFA	sequential organ failure assessment
STROBE	strengthening the reporting of observational studies in epidemiology
SDG	sustainable development goals
UK	United Kingdom
UNDP	United Nations Development Programme
UNFPA	United Nations Population Fund
UNICEF	United Nations Children's Fund
UN IGME	United Nations Inter-Agency Group for Child Mortality Estimation
USA	United States of America
WASH	water, sanitation and health
WHO	World Health Organization

## **Glossary of key terms and definitions**

**Case fatality:** the proportion of individuals who die due to a specific disease among all individuals diagnosed with that disease over a given period. *Source:* Harrington RA. Encyclopedia Britannica (<u>https://www.britannica.com/science/case-fatality-rate</u>).

**Early-onset neonatal sepsis:** onset of sepsis within the first 72 hours after birth. *Source:* American Academy of Pediatrics. Group B streptococcal infections. In: Kimberlin DW, Brady MT, Jackson MA, Long SS, editors. Red Book: 2018 Report of the Committee on Infectious Diseases. American Academy of Pediatrics; 2018;762-68.

#### Health care-associated infection (also referred to as "nosocomial" or "hospital infection"):

an infection occurring in a patient during the process of care in a hospital or other health care facility, which was not present or incubating at the time of admission. Health care-associated infections can also appear after discharge. They represent the most frequent adverse event associated with patient care.

Source: https://www.who.int/infection-prevention/publications/burden\_hcai/en/.

**Health care-associated sepsis:** a case of infection leading to sepsis that is acquired in the healthcare setting, including intensive care units (ICUs); "ICU-associated" sepsis denotes a subset of infections/sepsis acquired during ICU stay. "Health care-associated" and "ICU-associated" are usually defined as disease onset occurring 48 to 72 hours after hospital and/or ICU admission, respectively.

*Source:* Markwart R, et al. Epidemiology and burden of sepsis acquired in hospitals and intensive care units: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Intensive Care Med. 2020;46(8):1536-51.

#### **Infant:** child aged 0 to 12 months of age.

*Source:* The Global Health Observatory. Number of infant deaths (thousands). Geneva: World Health Organization; 2020 (<u>https://www.who.int/data/gho/data/indicators/indicator-details/</u>GH0/number-of-infant-deaths-(thousands)).

Intensive care unit: a specialized unit for the care of patients whose conditions are lifethreatening and who require comprehensive care and constant monitoring.

Late-onset neonatal sepsis: onset of sepsis occurring 3 to 90 days after birth. Source: American Academy of Pediatrics. Group B streptococcal infections. In: Kimberlin DW, Brady MT, Jackson MA, Long SS, eds. Red Book: 2018 Report of the Committee on Infectious Diseases. American Academy of Pediatrics; 2018; 762-68.

**Low- and middle-income country:** WHO Member States are grouped into income groups (low, lower-middle, upper-middle and high) according to the World Bank analytical classification of economies calculated using the World Bank Atlas method and based on the gross national income per capita of each country.

**Maternal death:** death of a woman while pregnant or within 42 days of termination of pregnancy, irrespective of the duration and the site of the pregnancy, from any cause related to or aggravated by the pregnancy or its management, but not from accidental or incidental causes.

**Maternal near-miss case:** a woman who nearly died, but survived a complication that occurred during pregnancy, childbirth or within 42 days of termination of pregnancy. *Sources:* Nashef SA. What is a near miss? Lancet. 2003;361(9352):180-1.

Say L, Souza JP, Pattinson RC. Maternal near miss--towards a standard tool for monitoring quality of maternal health care. Best Pract Res Clin Obst Gynaecol. 2009;23(3):287-96.

**Maternal peripartum infection:** infection of the genital tract and surrounding tissues during labour and up to 42 days after birth.

**Maternal sepsis:** a life-threatening condition defined as organ dysfunction resulting from infection during pregnancy, childbirth, post-abortion, or the postpartum period. *Source:* Statement on maternal sepsis. Geneva: World Health Organiziation; 2017 (<u>https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/254608/WHO-RHR-17.02-eng.pdf?sequence=1</u>).

**Newborn/neonate:** a live child aged 0 to 28 days.

Possible serious bacterial infection: a clinical syndrome used in the WHO/UNICEF Integrated Management of Childhood Illness strategy package referring to a sick young infant who requires urgent referral to hospital. The signs include: not able to feed since birth or stopped feeding well (confirmed by observation); convulsions; fast breathing (60 breaths per minute or more) among infants less than 7 days old; severe chest in-drawing; fever (38 °C or greater); low body temperature (less than 35.5 °C); and movement only when stimulated or no movement at all. *Source:* Managing possible serious bacterial infection in young infants when referral is not feasible: guidelines and WHO/UNICEF recommendations for implementation. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2015 (https://www.who.int/maternal\_child\_adolescent/documents/ bacterial-infection-infants/en/).

**Sepsis:** life-threatening organ dysfunction caused by a dysregulated host response to infection. *Source:* Singer Met al. The Third International Consensus Definitions for Sepsis and Septic Shock (Sepsis-3). JAMA. 2016;315(8):801-10.

**Septic shock:** a subset of sepsis in which particularly profound circulatory, cellular and metabolic abnormalities are associated with a greater risk of mortality than with sepsis alone. *Source:* Singer M, et al. The Third International Consensus Definitions for Sepsis and Septic Shock (Sepsis-3). JAMA. 2016;315(8):801-10.

**Severe maternal outcomes:** organ system dysfunction defined as maternal near-miss cases or maternal death

*Sources:* Pattinson R, et al. WHO maternal death and near-miss classifications. Bull World Health Organ. 2009;87(10):734.

Say L, Souza JP, Pattinson RC. Maternal near miss--towards a standard tool for monitoring quality of maternal health care. Best Pract Res Clin Obst Gynaecol. 2009;23(3):287-96.

**Severe sepsis:** sepsis complicated by organ dysfunction, used in previous sepsis definitions (Sepsis-1 and -2) and no longer used in the current sepsis definition (Sepsis-3). *Sources:* Bone RC, et al. Definitions for sepsis and organ failure and guidelines for the use of innovative therapies in sepsis. The ACCP/SCCM Consensus Conference Committee. American College of Chest Physicians/Society of Critical Care Medicine. Chest. 1992;101(6):1644-55. Levy MM, et al. 2001 SCCM/ESICM/ACCP/ATS/SIS International Sepsis Definitions Conference. Crit Care Med. 2003;31(4):1250-6.

**Systemic inflammatory response syndrome:** exaggerated defence response of the body to a noxious stressor (infection, trauma, surgery, acute inflammation, ischemia or reperfusion, or malignancy) to localize and then eliminate the endogenous or exogenous source of the insult.

*Source:* Chakraborty RK, Burns B. Systemic inflammatory response syndrome. In: StatPearls. Treasure Island (FL): StatPearls Publishing; 2020 (<u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK547669/</u>). **Sociodemographic index:** a summary measure that identifies where countries or other geographical areas sit on the spectrum of development. Expressed on a scale of 0 to 1, the index is a composite average of the rankings of incomes per capita, average educational attainment and fertility rates.

*Source:* Socio-demographic index. Seattle (WA): Institute for Health Metrics and Evaluation (<u>http://www.healthdata.org/taxonomy/glossary/socio-demographic-index-sdi</u>).

**Universal health coverage:** ensuring that all people have access to needed health services (including prevention, promotion, treatment, rehabilitation and palliation) of sufficient quality to be effective, while also ensuring that the use of these services does not expose the user to financial hardship.

**Vertical transmission:** the passage of an infectious agent (pathogen) from mother to baby during the period before (antenatal) birth, weeks immediately prior to or after birth (perinatal), or the period after birth (postnatal).

**Vital registration:** an administrative system used by governments to record vital events, such as live births, deaths (including fetal deaths), marriages and divorces that occur in the population. Young infant: child aged 0 to 59 days (2 months).

*Source:* Managing possible serious bacterial infection in young infants when referral is not feasible: Guidelines and WHO/UNICEF recommendations for implementation. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2015 (<u>https://www.who.int/maternal\_child\_adolescent/documents/bacterial-infection-infants/en/</u>).

## **Executive summary**

Sepsis is a preventable, life-threatening condition marked by severe organ dysfunction. For 2017, it was estimated that it had affected 49 million individuals and was related to approximately 11 million potentially avoidable deaths worldwide. Sepsis mortality is often related to suboptimal quality of care, an inadequate health infrastructure, poor infection prevention measures in place, late diagnosis, and inappropriate clinical management. Antimicrobial resistance further complicates sepsis management across all settings, particularly in high-risk populations, such as neonates and patients in intensive care units (ICUs). While primary infections have remained the leading cause of sepsis and sepsis-related mortality over the last three decades, there has been a marked increase in the proportion of sepsis incidence and mortality linked to injuries and non-communicable diseases. Moreover, survivors of sepsis face serious long-term health consequences in the form of increased post-discharge mortality, physical and cognitive impairment, and mental health disorders. Unfortunately, high-quality epidemiological data on the burden of sepsis are limited by inconsistent and variable diagnostic criteria, few prospective studies, and suboptimal administrative data and hospital discharge coding.

Sepsis is undeniably a serious worldwide health threat. However, while sepsis affects individuals of any sex and of any age, there are significant disparities in the burden of disease. As can be expected, sepsis disproportionately affects vulnerable populations such as pregnant and recently-pregnant women, neonates, young children, older persons, individuals with underlying chronic conditions, and the immunocompromised. Furthermore, much of the burden of sepsis, both incidence and mortality, is in low- and middle-income countries (LMICs). This report will focus on current epidemiological sepsis research, in particular work conducted by WHO on maternal and neonatal sepsis, adult sepsis, and sepsis acquired in hospitals and ICUs.

In 2017, almost half (20 million) of all estimated sepsis cases worldwide occurred in children under 5 years of age. In 2018, an estimated 15% of all neonatal deaths globally were due to sepsis. Studies have shown that the highest incidence of neonatal sepsis occurs in pre-term and low-birth-weight infants. However, the overall incidence of neonatal sepsis is highest in low-income countries. While survival of pre-term infants is improving over time, neonates are particularly vulnerable to sepsis caused by health care-associated infections, especially in settings with low health care resources where the rates are highest.

Obstetric infections, which include complications following abortion, are the third most common cause of maternal mortality. Globally, it is estimated that for every 1000 women giving birth, 11 women experience infection-related, severe organ dysfunction or death. Similar to the neonatal population, maternal sepsis morbidity and mortality are highest in LMICs. For example, data from a prospective observational study showed that rates of infection-related, severe maternal outcomes represented 12 to 15 per 1000 live births in LMICs compared to 0.6 per 1000 live births in high-income countries.

One in four cases of sepsis in hospitals and one in two cases of sepsis in ICUs result from health care-associated infections. For every 1000 hospitalized patients, an estimated 15 patients will develop sepsis as a complication of receiving health care. Of note, a population-based cohort study showed that sepsis rates were more than seven times higher among the hospitalized neonatal population. Mortality estimates for health care-associated sepsis in hospitalized adult patients range from 20% to 30%. In addition, health care-associated sepsis has also been associated with longer hospital stay and higher antimicrobial resistance rates than community-acquired sepsis. Importantly, more than half of all cases of health care-associated sepsis are preventable through appropriate infection prevention and control (IPC) measures.

Understanding the true burden of sepsis is complicated by many factors. Most of the available epidemiological data rely on systematic reviews of observational studies. Furthermore, there is a severe lack of population-based sepsis data globally, especially from LMICs, which makes it difficult to estimate the true burden of sepsis. Few prospective studies inform available estimates and most rely on hospital administrative data and International Classification of Diseases discharge coding, which is prone to bias and limited by the heterogeneity in documentation and thus data quality. Even where high-quality data exist, inconsistent and variable diagnostic criteria cause difficulties with data capture and comparison, thus greatly limiting generalizability and comparability. Furthermore, available studies rarely measure community-based events, morbidity and long-term outcomes, thereby underestimating the true burden of disease. Finally, there are few global surveillance systems in place, again making it difficult to accurately measure sepsis incidence and mortality.

The way forward to bridge these gaps involves a systematic approach to standardizing the case definition of sepsis, in particular for high-risk populations (for example, neonates), and ensuring that the definition is relevant in all settings across all resource levels. Improved, robust study designs and high-quality data collection are essential, notably in LMICs where data are lacking and sepsis incidence and mortality are highest. Sepsis surveillance is of vital importance and can be achieved by leveraging existing programmes and networks. Linking available data – clinical, diagnostic and microbiological – strengthens not only sepsis surveillance, but also IPC practices and clinical management. Rapid, affordable and appropriate diagnostic tools, particularly for primary and secondary levels of care, are needed to improve sepsis identification, surveillance, prevention and treatment. It is only through a concerted, global effort to scale-up advocacy, funding and the research capacity for the generation of epidemiological evidence that we can gain a true insight into the burden of sepsis, improve evidence-based clinical management, and affect sustainable improvement in short- and long-term outcomes among those most at need.



## Part 1. Introduction and background

The concept and the understanding of "sepsis" has evolved over time as the medical knowledge of sepsis pathophysiology, aetiological factors, and clinical progression have increased and improved. The first consensus definition of sepsis, Sepsis-1, developed in 1991, was based on systemic inflammatory response syndrome (SIRS) criteria in response to infection and defined sepsis according to severity, that is, sepsis, severe sepsis and septic shock (1). Although the term "severe sepsis" was used to describe sepsis complicated by organ dysfunction, the Sepsis-1 definition did not state what constituted organ dysfunction. The Sepsis-1 definition was subsequently revised in 2001 (Sepsis-2) and the term "severe sepsis" became "sepsis complicated by organ dysfunction". Furthermore, Sepsis-2 produced an expanded list of symptoms, signs and laboratory values that could indicate sepsis in the presence of infection and suggested that scoring systems (for example, the multiple organ dysfunction syndrome and the Sequential Organ Failure Assessment [SOFA] score) could be used to define organ dysfunction (2). Nevertheless, there was little discernible difference between the Sepsis-1 and -2 definitions as signs, symptoms and/or laboratory values defined by the Sepsis-2 definition were considered too ambiguous. The most recent definition of sepsis, **Sepsis-3**, was developed in 2016 and defines sepsis as "life-threatening organ dysfunction caused by a dysregulated host response to infection", where organ dysfunction is identified as an acute increase in the total SOFA score of two or more due to infection (3). This updated consensus definition has improved specificity compared with previous definitions and is the definition used throughout this text to describe sepsis, unless specified otherwise.

> Sepsis is the final common pathway to death for severe infectious diseases, including bacterial bloodstream infections, diarrhoeal disease, lower respiratory tract infections, malaria, dengue, and systemic fungal infections.

A recent global study reported 49 million cases and 11 million sepsis-related deaths in 2017, accounting for approximately 20% of all annual deaths globally (4). While sepsis can affect any individual worldwide, significant regional disparities in incidence and mortality exist with the highest rates in lower-middle-income countries (LMICs). Furthermore, sepsis is costly and the average hospital-wide cost of sepsis was estimated to be more than US\$ 32 000 per patient, although these estimates were based almost exclusively on data from high-income countries (HICs) (5).

Given that it significantly contributes to preventable mortality, combating sepsis is an integral part of realizing the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) targets 3.1 and 3.2 relating to maternal, neonatal, and child mortality (6), as well as target 3.3 on infectious diseases. Indirectly, sepsis is relevant to other targets in SDG 3, such as 3.8 on quality of care for all, and its prevention and management is inherently linked with vaccination, efforts to combat antimicrobial

resistance (AMR) (7), universal health coverage (UHC)<sup>1</sup>, capacity to comply with the International Health Regulations (IHR 2005) (8), health emergency preparedness, IPC<sup>2</sup>, and water, sanitation and hygiene (WASH) standards<sup>3</sup>. Recently, it has become clear that sepsis can be a significant complication of injuries and non-communicable diseases (NCDs) (4), providing yet another key connection between sepsis and SDG 3.



To address this significant global health threat, the 70th World Health Assembly in 2017 adopted a resolution aiming to improve "the prevention, diagnosis and clinical management of sepsis" (9).

To support the implementation of this resolution, WHO conducted original research, gathered available evidence on the epidemiology and burden of sepsis worldwide, and established a technical advisory group of international experts. Through this work, WHO facilitated discussions and consensus on the current status of sepsis epidemiology research and the limitations inherent to the methods currently used to identify sepsis morbidity and mortality. Experts were also asked to identify approaches to achieve a better standardization of sepsis epidemiology research and define future directions and priorities in this field to close existing gaps. In this first WHO Global report on the epidemiology and burden of sepsis, we highlight the public health impact of sepsis, with a focus on specific populations – neonates, pregnant and recently-pregnant women, and patients seeking health care – and propose future directions for sepsis epidemiology research.

<sup>2</sup> How to prevent sepsis. The role you can play in health care and communities (<u>https://www.who.int/infection-prevention/campaigns/clean-hands/Sespis\_infographic\_A2\_EN\_PRINT.pdf?ua=1</u>, accessed 21 August 2020).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Universal health coverage (https://www.who.int/health-topics/universal-health-coverage#tab=tab\_1, accessed 12 August 2020).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>Water, sanitation and hygiene (WASH) (https://www.who.int/health-topics/water-sanitation-and-hygiene-wash, accessed 12 August 2020).

## Part 2. Available evidence on global sepsis epidemiology

## 2.1 Global estimates of sepsis

#### **Box 2.1 Key global estimates of sepsis**

- Most published studies on hospital and ICU-treated sepsis were done in highincome countries, with little evidence available from the rest of the world.
- An estimated 49 million cases of sepsis and 11 million sepsis-related deaths occurred worldwide in 2017, accounting for approximately 20% of all-cause deaths globally.
- In 2017, the largest contributors to sepsis incidence and mortality among all age groups were diarrhoeal diseases and lower respiratory infections, respectively.
- Nearly half of all sepsis-related deaths in 2017 were complications of injuries and non-communicable diseases.
- 41% (20 million) of all global sepsis cases in 2017 occurred among children under five years of age.
- Significant disparities in sepsis exist; there is an inverse relationship between income level and sepsis incidence and mortality.
- Hospital mortality rate of sepsis was estimated to be 27% from a systematic review of the literature.
- Mortality is estimated to be 42% in intensive care patients treated for sepsis.
- Among adult sepsis survivors, one in three died within a year and one in six experienced significant, long-term morbidity.

ICU: intensive care unit

This section describes global estimates of sepsis morbidity and mortality derived from different publications that are mainly of two kinds, that is, recently-published systematic reviews of the literature and the Global Burden of Disease (GBD) analysis on the burden of sepsis in 2017. It is important to note that major methodological differences hamper the comparability of the estimates from the GBD sepsis study and results of meta-analyses of population-level epidemiological studies.

Sepsis is a major global health threat with a high incidence and mortality, particularly in LMICs.

A 2016 systematic review of the literature *(10)* extrapolated HIC data (no published population-based data were available for LMICs) and estimated 19 million cases of sepsis1

(148 per 100 000 person-years) and 5 million sepsis-related deaths every year in adult patients worldwide. To address the lack of LMIC representation and optimize the inclusion of studies from LMICs, WHO undertook an updated and targeted systematic review and meta-analysis that confirmed the overall paucity of data in these settings (Fig. 2.1.1).



The **updated review published in 2020** and based on 51 studies, mostly from HICs (n=46; Fig. 2.1.1), estimated a pooled incidence of 189 hospital-treated adult sepsis cases per 100 000 person-years and a mortality of 26.7% *(11)*.

Sepsis incidence and mortality (deaths per sepsis cases) estimates were not significantly different between WHO regions. However, overall and region-specific estimates should be interpreted with caution, given the limited representation of data from LMICs. The 2020 literature review also focused on the burden of sepsis treated in ICUs, which was estimated to be 58 cases per 100 000 person-years. In-hospital mortality was estimated to be more than one-third (42%) of ICU-treated sepsis patients. There were significant regional differences in both the incidence of and mortality associated with ICU-treated sepsis (Table 1). Of note, these estimates should be interpreted with caution given the limited data.

Hospital-treated sepsis in adults	
Incidence: 189 per 100 000 person-years	
Overall mortality: 26.7%	
Mortality of ICU-treated sepsis: 42.0%	

<sup>1</sup>Original publication reported results using Sepsis-2 definitions of sepsis: 31 million sepsis cases, including 19 million cases of sepsis with organ dysfunction.

 
 Table 1
 Summary findings of the systematic review and meta-analysis of the literature on the incidence of hospital-treated sepsis.

WHO regions (number of studies on sepsis incidence/mortality)	Incidence per 100.000 population [95% confidence interval]	Mortality % [95% confidence interval]	
Hospital-treated sepsis			
All regions (AMR, EUR, WPR; n= 28/22)	189 [133, 267]	26.7 [22.9, 30.7]	
AMR (n= 9/6)	124 [ 78, 197]	30.1 [25.1, 35.6]	
EUR (n= 13/12)	289 [166, 504]	22.1 [16.7, 28.7]	
WPR (n= 6/4)	245 [124, 485]	24.3 [17.2, 33.1]	
ICU-treated sepsis			
All regions (AFR, AMR, EUR, WPR; n= 34/19)	58 [42, 81]	41.9 [36.2, 47.7]	
AFR (n= 1/1)	52 [39, 71]	40.4 [34.9, 46.2]	
AMR (n= 5/4)	2 [ 0, 6]	76.0 [58.5, 87.7]	
EUR (n= 21/11)	139 [75, 256]	42.7 [33.7, 52.2]	
WPR (n= 7/3)	72 [43, 120]	34.6 [25.4, 45.2]	

**Note:** numbers in brackets represent 95% confidence intervals. This table has been produced by WHO based on data included in reference *11*.

ICU: intensive care unit; AFR: African Region; AMR: Region of the Americas; EUR: European Region; WPR: Western Pacific Region.

Moreover, the review showed an increase in recent years in the number of observed sepsis cases (276 per 100 000 person-years in the past decade, representing a 46% increase compared to the overall time period), with a slightly higher in-hospital mortality (27.4%). Potential drivers of the increase in overall sepsis incidence include aging and an improved survival of persons with underlying chronic conditions (12), which result in the use of immunosuppressive medication, invasive treatments and intensive care. A possible additional explanation for an observed increase in the number of reported sepsis cases is improved access to hospital care for hospital-treated sepsis. Increased attention to sepsis reporting and a more sensitive coding of sepsis in hospital records may also have significantly contributed to the observed increase in the incidence rate. However, there are a number of reports suggesting that the true burden of sepsis is underestimated by studies that rely solely on administrative data and International Classification of Diseases (ICD). Indeed, several patient record-based studies suggest that only 15% to 50% of patients with sepsis are correctly coded using the ICD system (13-16).

While these numbers are staggering, a recent publication on the global burden of sepsis across all patient populations based on a death records' analysis by the **GBD sepsis study** estimated even more shocking numbers: 48.9 million cases of sepsis and 11 million sepsis-related deaths worldwide in 2017, accounting for almost 20% of all global deaths (4).



Based on modelling of adult and child death certificate data, the study presented estimations for all countries, including LMICs where evidence from the literature was lacking. This study found that between 1990 and 2017, age-standardized sepsis incidence fell by 37% and overall sepsis-related mortality decreased by by 53%. These findings are different from the results of the above-mentioned 2020 systematic review which reported increasing trends. One of the reasons for this difference might be attributable to the modelling assumptions and imputation steps in the GBD sepsis study as the model inputs were derived from the multiple cause of death data from four countries and hospital data from 10 countries, which were high- and middleincome only; data were subsequently extrapolated to low-income countries. Therefore, global longitudinal trends might be unreliable as improvements in the burden of sepsis in one country used as a primary data source would project these benefits to other countries for which data are unavailable. On the other hand, the 2020 systematic review includes considerable heterogeneity between studies that may be due to differences in sepsis definitions, study designs, sampling strategies and study settings. Moreover, variations in the considered time periods and the potential changes in incidence rates and mortality rates over time causes between-study variance. These limitations, together with other intrinsic ones, such as publication bias, hampers any extrapolation, comparability and generalizability of results, including assessment for time trends of sepsis.

#### Age and sex-specific burden of sepsis and risk factors

The GBD sepsis study highlighted significant differences in sepsis cases and mortality across age groups, sex and regions in 2017. Sepsis incidence was biphasic; it peaked in early childhood and again in elderly adults. The study estimated that 41.5% (20.3 million) of incident sepsis cases and 26.4% (2.9 million) deaths related to sepsis worldwide were among children younger than five years.

Sepsis incidence in 2017 and children

Sepsis incidence was biphasic; it peaked in early childhood and again in elderly adults.

41.5% (20.3 million) of incident sepsis cases

**26.4% (2.9 million)** deaths related to sepsis

children younger than 5 years

Incident cases of sepsis and related deaths were fewer in children and adolescents aged 5–19 years, 10% (4.9 million) and 4.1% (0.45 million), respectively. Most incident sepsis cases (48.5% [23.7 million]) and related deaths (70% [7.7 million]) were among adults 20 years and older. Global sepsis incidence was higher among women than men (717 vs. 643 cases per 100 000), but sepsis-related mortality was higher among men (164 vs. 134 per 100 000, respectively). Furthermore, gross regional and economic disparities were found: 85.0% of sepsis cases and 84.8% of related deaths worldwide occurred in countries with low, low-middle, or middle sociodemographic indices (SDI), particularly in sub-Saharan Africa and South-East Asia (4) (Fig. 2.1.2).

Sepsis regional and economic disparities

85.0% of sepsis cases and 84.8% of sepsis related deaths occurred in countries with low, low-middle, or middle sociodemographic indices, particularly in sub-Saharan Africa and South-East Asia. Fig. 2.1.2 Age-standardized sepsis incidence per 100 000 population for both sexes in 2017 (A), and percentage of all deaths related to sepsis, age-standardized for both sexes, in 2017 (B).



**Source:** Reproduced from reference (4). Published under the CC BY 4.0 licence (<u>https://creativecommons.org/</u><u>licenses/by/4.0/</u>).

In addition, the GBD sepsis study found that two-thirds of sepsis cases in 2017 occurred in patients with an underlying infectious cause of health loss, while the remaining cases were infections that occurred secondary to underlying injuries or chronic disease. Diarrhoeal diseases were the largest contributors to sepsis and accounted for 9.2 (in 2017) to 15 million annual cases (in 1990), whereas lower respiratory infections caused the largest number of sepsis-related deaths (1.8 to 2.8 million annually in 2017 and 1990, respectively) (4).

#### Sepsis contributors (2017)

**Diarrhoeal diseases:** caused 9.2 million cases of sepsis.

Lower respiratory infections: caused 1.8 million deaths due to sepsis. While infections have remained the leading primary cause of sepsis and sepsis-related mortality worldwide across all ages over the last three decades (Fig. 2.1.3), there has been a marked increase in sepsis incidence and mortality secondary to injuries and NCDs, which were linked in 2017 to nearly one-half of all sepsis-related deaths. In 2017, injuries due to road traffic accidents were the most common type of injury contributing to both sepsis incidence and sepsis-related deaths, while maternal and neonatal disorders were the most common NCDs that contributed to the sepsis burden. The cause of sepsis-related deaths also varied by region: most deaths were attributable to infections in countries with a low SDI compared to underlying NCDs in high SDI countries.



## Short and long-term consequences of sepsis

Sepsis is a potentially life-altering illness and can cause severe morbidities and sequelae, even in those who survive, as highlighted in Fig. 2.1.4. Among those who survive, approximately one-half recover completely, while one-third die within a year, with one-half of these deaths as a direct complication from the previous acute sepsis episode (*17*, *18*). One-sixth of sepsis survivors experience significant morbidity, such as functional limitations (for example, inability to bathe or dress independently), moderate-to-severe cognitive impairment, and/or increased mental health disorders (*19*, *20*). An estimated 40% of sepsis patients are re-hospitalized within 90 days of discharge (*21*), which increases the burden of sepsis not only on the individual, but also on the health care system and society. Post-discharge sepsis complications are associated with a worse pre-illness health status, infection severity and quality of hospital care (*22*, *23*). While some guidelines for the prevention of sepsis morbidity exist, such as delirium monitoring and early mobility, there are limited data worldwide regarding the best approaches for minimizing disability due to sepsis, as well as improving long-term outcomes (*22*).



## **Fig. 2.1.4** A conceptual model of the potential network of factors and interactions important to determining a patient's clinical course and long-term outcome after sepsis.



cal factors to demonstrate their complex and immeasurable interactions.

Source: Reproduced with permission from reference (22).

#### Sepsis and antimicrobial resistance

Sepsis is a major driver of broad-spectrum antibiotic use and therefore contributes to the emerging global threat of AMR. In turn, AMR negatively affects individuals with sepsis and contributes to the progression of infection to sepsis by decreasing the effectiveness of available antimicrobial therapy. Global efforts to tackle the threat of AMR have been discussed at the highest level, including the World Health Assemblies in 2014 (*25*), 2015 and 2019 (*26*), as well as the United Nations General Assembly in 2016 (*27*). In 2015, WHO established the Global Antimicrobial Resistance Surveillance System (GLASS) to improve the quality and quantity of

data on the epidemiology of AMR and help inform health policy decision-making. GLASS aims to provide the capacity to monitor AMR trends, produce reliable and comparable data and inform antimicrobial treatment options. As of February 2020, 88 Member States have been participating in GLASS, including 55 LMICs and 21 sub-Saharan countries. During the 2019 data call, 66 countries submitted AMR data, contributing to the global effort to report antimicrobial-resistant infections that can lead to sepsis. The main findings of the 2020 GLASS report *(28)* show that in many countries rates of AMR are very high among bacteria that frequently cause serious infections in either community or health care settings. For example, reported median resistance to third-generation cephalosporins in bloodstream infections due to *Klebsiella pneumoniae* was 57.6%, with 12 countries reporting 80% to 100% resistance.

Klebsiella pneumoniae resistant to third-generation cephalosporins in bloodstream infections globally in 2018			
57.6%	80% to 100%		

57.6%	80% to 100%
median	in 12 countries

LMICs: low- and middle-income countries; MDROs: multidrug-resistant organisms.

For the same organism, median resistance to carbapenems was 17% (interquartile range, 0.7–26.8). Another example is the high median resistance rates of *Acinetobacter* spp., a common cause of hospital infections: 41.2% and 63.2% of isolates were resistant to aminoglycosides and carbapenems respectively, with some countries already reporting 90% to 100% resistance. A new SDG indicator to monitor AMR was introduced in 2019, that is, frequencies of bloodstream infections due to methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* (MRSA) and *Escherichia coli* resistant to third-generation cephalosporins. While the data are still not nationally representative, the global median rate reported for MRSA was 12.11% (interquartile range, 6.4–26.4) and 36.0% (interquartile range, 15.2–63.0) for *E. coli* resistant to third-generation cephalosporins.

In 2014, WHO also conducted a global survey on the prevalence of multidrug-resistant organisms (MDROs) in routine clinical specimens of patients admitted to a diverse range of health care facilities (29). The study covered 420 laboratories in 67 countries and identified a high prevalence of MDROs often responsible for bloodstream infections in hospitalized patients, such as MRSA, vancomycin-resistant enterococci, extended-spectrum beta-lactamase (ESBL)-producing and/or carbapenem-resistant Enterobacteriaceae, and multiresistant *Acinetobacter* spp in blood cultures. Of note, an association between country income level and the risk of detecting these MDROs from blood cultures was established through multivariate analysis, with the prevalence of MDROs significantly higher in LMICs.

Prevalence of MDROs in bloodstream infections are significantly higher in LMICs.

## **Paediatric sepsis**

Paediatric sepsis is a distinct entity from adult and neonatal sepsis, given the unique characteristics of children and the differences in sepsis aetiology, and is defined based on SIRS and age-specific criteria (*30*). The largest, global paediatric point prevalence study to date (2013-2014) estimated a prevalence of 8.2% severe sepsis (comparable to the current adult definition of sepsis) (*31*) in children aged less than 18 years admitted to ICUs across 126 countries (primarily in North America [n=59] and Europe [n=39]). This study estimated 25% hospital mortality, without any significant difference by age or country income level, and 17% moderate-to-severe disability

among sepsis survivors. Of note, these results should be interpreted with caution as, globally, most paediatric sepsis patients do not have access to ICUs and would not be represented in this study.

However, the GBD sepsis study (4) provided global estimates of paediatric sepsis and highlighted the significant burden in LMICs. Over one-half of all global sepsis cases occurred among adolescents and children, many of them neonates, and sepsis incidence and mortality in children under one year of age was exceptionally high (4).

In 2017, there were an estimated 20 million cases of sepsis worldwide and an estimated 2.9 million global deaths among children younger than 5 years of age.

The three most common causes of sepsis-related deaths among children were infections related to neonatal disorders (for example, preterm birth, encephalopathy, haemolytic disease), lower respiratory infections and diarrhoeal diseases (4).

#### Main conclusions on the global sepsis estimates

Two conclusions can be drawn from this epidemiological snapshot of the global sepsis burden. First, reviews have shown that very little data on sepsis epidemiology are available from the scientific literature, particularly in LMICs where the burden seems to be higher.

Very little data on sepsis epidemiology are available from the scientific literature, particularly in LMICs where the burden seems to be higher.

LMICs: low- and middle-income countries.

It is therefore critical to address gaps in data availability and research globally, particularly in LMICs. Second, while some estimates seem to show an increasing trend in sepsis incidence and mortality in recent decades, other estimates clearly point towards a decreasing number of cases of sepsis and related deaths. Nevertheless, all findings point towards substantial differences by age, sex, region, and underlying cause. Addressing these disparities requires decisive, urgent action by national and global policy-makers, as well as clinicians, researchers and hospital administrators.



## 2.2 Global estimates of neonatal sepsis

## Box 2.2 Key global estimates of neonatal sepsis

- Severe neonatal infections, including sepsis, represent a significant cause of neonatal mortality and long-term morbidity.
- There are an estimated 1.3 to 3.9 million annual neonatal sepsis cases and 400 000 to 700 000 annual deaths worldwide, depending on the study.
- Among hospital-born infants, hospital-acquired infections account for an estimated 4% to 56% of all deaths in the neonatal period, depending on the study and geographical area.
- An estimated 84% of neonatal deaths due to infections could be prevented through measures such as early diagnosis and timely, appropriate clinical management.
- The highest neonatal sepsis incidence rates are in LMICs, particularly in the African region.
- The WHO clinical classification of 'possible serious bacterial infection' has helped to obtain data on serious infections, including sepsis, from settings with a limited diagnostic capacity.
- Group B *Streptococcus* and *E. coli* infections account for 70% of early-onset neonatal sepsis.

LMIC: low- and middle-income country.

This section describes available estimates of the sepsis burden in neonates collected through global mortality surveillance systems, surveillance in limited geographical areas, systematic reviews of the literature and specific studies aiming at improving the clinical management of neonatal sepsis. It is important to note that major methodological differences hamper the generalizability and comparability of these estimates.

The first 28 days of life (the neonatal period) are the most vulnerable time for child survival. Every year, an estimated 2.5 million neonates die in their first month of life, accounting for nearly one-half of deaths in children under 5 years of age, according to estimates from the United Nations Inter-Agency Group for Child Mortality Estimation (UN IGME) (32). Severe neonatal infections (including sepsis, meningitis and pneumonia) represent a significant cause of neonatal mortality (24%) (32) and cause short- and long-term complications, such as preterm birth and neonatal encephalopathy (33).

Mortality due to severe neonatal infections

**24%** of neonatal deaths are caused by severe neonatal infections (including sepsis)

An estimated 375 000 neonatal deaths due to sepsis occurred globally in 2018, which represented 15% of all neonatal deaths, according to data from the UN IGME and modelled by the WHO and the Maternal and Child Epidemiology Estimation Group (MCEE) (*32*). The prognosis of neonatal sepsis depends on early recognition and appropriate treatment, although signs and symptoms are often nonspecific and may overlap with those of other severe conditions, such

as meningitis and pneumonia (Fig. 2.2.1). These clinical signs include respiratory distress and cyanosis, apnoea, feeding difficulties, lethargy or irritability, and poor perfusion (34).





To help guide clinical management of serious infections (mainly pneumonia, sepsis and meningitis) in neonates and young infants, WHO has proposed a clinical classification of 'possible serious bacterial infection' (PSBI) for infants 0 to 59 days of age, which has helped to obtain data on serious infections, including sepsis, from settings with limited diagnostic capacity (*36*). An estimated 6.9 million cases of PSBI occurred in 2012 in neonates with a case fatality risk of 9.8% (*35*). Neonatal sepsis accounted for an estimated 25% (95% confidence interval, 16–34) of PSBI cases (*37*).

Neonatal sepsis and PSBI cases

## **25%** of PSBI cases appear as neonatal sepsis

PSBI: possible serious bacterial infection.

Secondary analysis of two large community-based studies coordinated by WHO (African Neonatal Sepsis Trial [AFRINEST] *(38, 39)*) found that among 84 759 live births under observation in Asia and Africa, 11 089 infants (13.1%) had at least one episode of infection and 237 (2.1%) died. The cumulative incidence rate of any sign of infection was 21 per 1000 infants. It was observed that signs of systemic infection (invasive and more severe infection) were more common in the

first week of life and then substantially reducing thereafter (WHO unpublished data). In another community-based study coordinated by WHO (Simplified Antibiotic Therapy Trial [SATT] (40, 41)), the cumulative incidence rate of PSBI in young infants up to two months of age ranged from 4.2% to 6.7% (SATT Bangladesh, SATT Pakistan studies). Finally, a community-based cohort evaluating the implementation of WHO PSBI guidelines between 2016 and 2019, 10% of approximately 87 000 young infants (0 to 59 days of age) in 6 countries (Democratic Republic of Congo, Ethiopia, India, Malawi, Nigeria and Pakistan) were reported to have signs of PSBI (42). African sites reported a higher prevalence (11%) compared to Asian sites (8%). The 2016/2017 GBD study estimated 1.3 million annual incident cases of neonatal sepsis and infection using an extensive body of evidence comprising a literature search, survey and surveillance data, hospital records and claims data (43).

A recently-updated and expanded systematic review and meta-analyses (44) of epidemiological studies on neonatal sepsis commissioned by WHO performed a search of the published literature between January 1979 to May 2019 and reported an estimated 3.9 million annual neonatal sepsis cases (2824 per 100 000 live births) and 689 922 deaths (18%) worldwide (WHO unpublished data). Higher incidence rates were found in at-risk groups of neonates and in LMICs. Lower birth weight and gestational age were associated with an increased sepsis incidence, resulting in the highest incidence of early-onset neonatal sepsis in very low birthweight infants and preterm neonates. However, global extrapolations from available evidence must be interpreted with caution as they are based on a limited number of countries (14 in this case) and not necessarily representative. Data on the incidence and mortality of neonatal sepsis are lacking from most countries worldwide (43).

Lower birth weight and gestational age were associated with an increased sepsis incidence.



Based on the timing of infection, neonatal sepsis has been classified as early onset sepsis (EOS – onset in the first 72 hours from birth) and late onset sepsis (LOS – onset occurring after the first 3 days from birth) (45). This grouping implies differences in the expected mode of transmission and predominant causative microorganisms. EOS is generally caused by vertical transmission from mothers to infants during the intrapartum period (46), while LOS is caused by postnatal horizontal transmission, mainly from organisms acquired after birth (47). From the above-mentioned, recently-updated systematic review and meta-analysis of epidemiological studies on neonatal sepsis, EOS was 2.6-fold more common than LOS (WHO unpublished data) (44).

## EOS was 2.6-fold more common than LOS.

EOS: early onset sepsis; LOS: late onset sepsis.

Early neonatal sepsis, which causes around 8% of all neonatal deaths, is indicative of underlying issues of quality of care, such as infrastructure constraints for the care of pregnant women and neonates, inconsistent use of preventive measures, such as detection of infection in the mother and preventive treatment of the neonate, delayed diagnosis, and poor management of infection and its complications in mothers and neonates (48). With approximately 21 million pregnant women colonized with Group B *Streptococcus* worldwide (estimation based on a global colonization of 18% of pregnant women), this pathogen represents the leading cause of neonatal sepsis, although *E. coli* has also recently emerged as a major threat (49, 50). Together, they account for approximately 70% of cases of all EOS (34). Although less common, *Listeria monocytogenes* is also associated with invasive infections in preterm neonates (49).

The aetiology of neonatal infections has changed over the past decades due to increasing AMR, the availability of technologies for diagnosing infections to guide treatment, and the utilization of invasive health care devices that increase the risk of health care-associated infections.

Survival of preterm, small (low birthweight) and sick infants has improved over time. However, this population often requires hospital care, which exposes them to a new set of infectious risks in the form of hospital-acquired infections and late onset sepsis (51).

The high burden of health care-associated infections in LMICs (*52*) affects high-risk populations such as neonates in neonatal ICUs (*53*). Among hospital-born babies, these infections are responsible for 4% to 56% of all causes of death in the neonatal period, with three-quarters occurring in South-East Asia and sub-Saharan Africa (*51*). The incidence of health care-associated infections is reported to vary between 15.2 and 62.0 per 1000 patient-days in neonatal ICUs (*53*).

Globally, an estimated 84% of neonatal deaths due to infections are preventable (54). Early diagnosis of neonatal infection and timely and appropriate clinical management are critical both to prevent sepsis and to treat sepsis in the early stage when treatment is more successful. Focusing on the critical periods before and immediately following birth is essential to saving more lives. The high percentage of institutional deliveries (almost 80% globally) represents an important opportunity for providing essential newborn care with high quality standards and

identifying and managing high-risk newborns (32). Further investments in epidemiological research and capacity worldwide are important to foster the surveillance of neonatal sepsis epidemiology.

# Globally, an estimated 84% of neonatal deaths due to infections are preventable.

## 2.3 Global estimates of maternal sepsis

## **Box 2.3** Key global estimates of maternal sepsis

- In 2017, WHO facilitated consensus around a standardized definition of maternal sepsis: a life-threatening condition defined as organ dysfunction resulting from infection during pregnancy, childbirth, post-abortion, or the postpartum period.
- Obstetric infections, including sepsis, are the third most common cause of maternal mortality, representing 10.7% of deaths, almost all of which are in LMICs.
- Regional disparities in maternal infection exist: the Global Maternal Sepsis Study (GLOSS) study found that in-hospital maternal infections were highest in uppermiddle-income countries, while infection-related severe maternal outcomes and case fatality were highest in low-income countries.
- In the Multi-Country Survey on Abortion (MCS-A) study, a high number of women across Africa, Latin America and the Caribbean experienced an abortion-related complication, including death and a potentially life-threatening complication, including systemic infection.

LMIC: low- and middle-income country.

Maternal infection is an important cause of maternal mortality and severe morbidity (55, 56). Latest global estimates suggest that direct (obstetric) infections are the third most common cause of maternal mortality, representing about 10.7% of deaths, almost all occurring in LMICs (55).

Obstetric infections			
The third	10.7%		
most common cause of maternal mortality	of maternal deaths (almost all occurring in LMICs)		

LMIC: low- and middle-income country.

Although maternal infection is a serious threat to women's health worldwide, accurate population-based estimates have been challenging to obtain due to a lack of high-quality, complete data on the incidence and mortality of maternal infection in most countries, especially in LMICs. Moreover, the use of inconsistent and variable diagnostic criteria causes limitations in capturing and comparing reported data.

To support research and consensus building on this critical topic, WHO led several activities aiming to improve the understanding of the frequency and severity of maternal infections and sepsis. These included: the development of a consensus definition for maternal sepsis (57, 58); a systematic review of the literature on the incidence and mortality of maternal peripartum infection (59); a large multi-country observational study on maternal infections and related mortality and severe morbidity in health facilities (60); and, finally, an additional large multi-country observational study measuring abortion-related complications in health facilities, including sepsis (61).

In 2017, WHO facilitated consensus around a new, standardized definition of maternal sepsis, that is, "a life-threatening condition defined as organ dysfunction resulting from infection during pregnancy, childbirth, post-abortion, or postpartum period" (*58*). The definition was based on a systematic review of the literature for definitions and identification criteria for maternal sepsis, followed by a technical expert consultation (*57*). It reflects the concepts embedded in the Sepsis-3 definition for adults (*62*) and has been endorsed by major professional societies in obstetrics, midwifery, paediatrics and intensive care. Of note, it should be mentioned that there is still no consensus regarding how to define "organ dysfunction".

WHO Statement on maternal sepsis

Maternal sepsis: a life-threatening condition defined as organ dysfunction resulting from infection during pregnancy, childbirth, post-abortion, or postpartum period.

A recent WHO systematic review of the literature assessed the incidence and mortality of maternal peripartum infection (infection of the genital tract and surrounding tissues during labour and up to 42 days after birth) (59). The review showed that for every 1000 women giving birth, an average of 0.5 women developed sepsis; the pooled sepsis incidence from high-quality studies was 0.05%.

To further explore maternal mortality and severe morbidity related to infection, WHO conducted a large, prospective, observational multi-country study: the Global Maternal Sepsis Study (GLOSS) (60). GLOSS included 2850 women with suspected or confirmed infection hospitalized in selected geographical areas in 52 high-, middle- and low-income countries from all WHO regions and measured outcomes per 1000 live births in health facilities in 2016 (most recent available data) (63). For every 1000 live births, 70 women had a suspected or confirmed maternal infection requiring hospital management and 11 women presented with severe maternal outcomes (SMO) (organ system dysfunction defined as maternal near-miss (64) or maternal death) related to infection during hospital stay. Infection was the underlying cause or contributing cause in over one-half of the intra-hospital maternal deaths (63).

Regional disparities in maternal infection were also observed in the GLOSS *(63)*. Intra-hospital maternal infections were highest in upper-middle-income countries (106 per 1000 live births) and lowest in HICs (39 per 1000 live births). Infection-related SMO were highest in LMICs (12 to

15 per 1000 live births) and lowest in HICs (0.6 per 1000 live births) (Fig. 2.3.1). Intra-hospital case fatality among women with infection-related SMO was 6.8% and higher fatality rates were found in low- (14.8%) and lower-middle (7%) compared to upper-middle (1.1%) income countries.

Sepsis and maternity				
For every 1000	<b>70 women</b> had a suspected or confirmed maternal infection requiring hospital management			
live births	<b>11 women</b> presented with severe maternal outcomes			
Infection was the underlying cause or contributing cause in over one-half of the intra-hospital maternal deaths				

#### Regional disparities in intra-hospital maternal infection

Maternal infection	UMICs:	106 per 1000 live births	
Maternal infection	HICs:	<b>39 per 1000</b> live births	
Infection-related	LMICs:	<b>12 to 155 per 1000</b> live births	
SMO	HICs:	<b>0.6 per 1000</b> live births	
Intra-hospital	LICs:	14.8%	
case fatality rates with infection-	LMICs:	7%	
related SMO (6.8%)	UMICs:	1.1%	

UMICs: upper-middle-income countries; HICs: high-income countries; LMICs: low- and middle-income countries; LICs: low-income countries; SMO: severe maternal outcome.

No maternal deaths were reported in HICs. The observed variation across countries could be related to the use of different admission criteria, resources available to identify severe conditions, or resources available to manage women with infections across facilities, geographical areas, and/or countries. This difference in identification and management could partly explain the higher burden of infectious morbidities in upper-middle-income countries compared to LMICs, where facilities might have lower admission thresholds for maternal infection or more resources to identify or treat complications compared with facilities in lowincome countries.

The most common sources of maternal infections from the GLOSS study were of the genital (endometritis and chorioamnionitis) or urinary tract, skin or soft tissue, the respiratory tract, and abortion-related. Less than half (47%) of the participating women had culture samples drawn to confirm a suspected infection. Overall, microorganisms were reported in 21% of the total samples and 31% of women with SMO. Bacteria were the microorganisms most frequently reported (77% in the overall sample and 85% of women with SMO), although microorganisms were reported without inferring direct causality (63).

#### Fig. 2.3.1 Number of severe maternal outcomes related to infection per 1000 live births.



Complications resulting from unsafe abortions, including infection, are an important and preventable cause of maternal mortality (55). Serious complications arise from the least-safe abortions (65). According to the most recent estimates, 55.7 million abortions occurred worldwide each year between 2010 and 2014, of which 45.1% were unsafe (65). Associated complications accounted for 8% of all global maternal mortality (55).



Therefore, to gain a better understanding of abortion-related complications and building on the network and experience of the WHO Multi-Country Survey (MCS), WHO implemented the "Multi-Country Survey on Abortion (MCS-A): Abortion-related Morbidity and Mortality" in 2016, a large, prospective, observational multi-country study (*61*). The study was conducted through a network of mainly secondary and tertiary level facilities in urban settings across multiple countries in Africa, Latin America and the Caribbean, and included over 20 000 women who presented with or

died from abortion-related complications or early pregnancy loss. Complications were classified into five categories based on severity: death; near-miss (64); potentially life-threatening (for example, severe haemorrhage, systemic infection, uterine perforation) (64); moderate (for example, bleeding, suspected intra-abdominal injury, infection); and mild (for example, any abnormal signs or symptoms from an initial physical examination). Results of the study are expected to be published in late 2020 or beginning of 2021.

Several important conclusions can be made from this series of studies. First, a major limitation of the available data on maternal sepsis is a lack of comparability across studies and regions, thus making it very difficult to determine a detailed and accurate description of the global epidemiology. This limitation is directly due to the fact that there are multiple definitions for maternal infection and maternal sepsis, hopefully now addressed by the new consensus definition. Consistent, higher quality data from across the world are needed to not only gain insight into the true burden of maternal sepsis, but also to demonstrate the influence of risk factors and protective interventions on outcomes. Second, maternal infections, including sepsis, are important complications for many women during and after pregnancy, and most of are preventable. Good IPC measures are key for the prevention of infections following caesarean section, perineal repair or other invasive procedures.

Maternal infections, including sepsis, are important complications for many women during and after pregnancy, and most of are preventable. Good IPC measures are key for the prevention of infections.

#### IPC: infection prevention and control.

Therefore, IPC should be a priority for health programme policy-makers. IPC is also important in the current context of maternity care. The increase in facility-based childbirths and rising caesarean section rates increase the risk of HAIs if not accompanied by improvements in the quality of care and IPC measures. Improved management of obstetric emergencies places women who survive at higher risk of HAI as they receive invasive medical interventions and experience prolonged hospital stays and intensive care admissions. In addition, early discharge from hospital after childbirth is another factor that contributes to delays in diagnosis and timely treatment of both maternal and early neonatal sepsis. Furthermore, the management of abortion-related complications must be an integral part of maternity care, as stated at the 1994 International Conference on Population and Development (*66*). Complications, including infection, as a result of unsafe abortion are an important and preventable cause of maternal mortality (*55*).



## **2.4** Global estimates of health care-associated sepsis

#### **Box 2.4 Global estimates of health care-associated sepsis**

- Among all hospital-treated sepsis cases, 23.6% were health care-associated.
- Estimates for the incidence of hospital-acquired sepsis treated in ICUs ranged from 13.8 to 175.0 cases per 100 000 adult population per year, depending on the setting; mortality was found to be 52.3%.
- In ICU patients, approximately one-half (48.7%) of sepsis cases were acquired in the hospital.
- Patients with hospital-acquired sepsis have longer lengths of stay and high rates of AMR and at-risk populations (neonates, ICU patients) are the most affected.
- Over one-half (56.6%) of all HAIs were in neonates; the estimated incidence of hospital-acquired sepsis in neonates was 112.9 cases per 1000 ICU-treated neonates.

ICU: intensive care unit; AMR: antimicrobial resistance; HAI: healthcare-associated infection.

While it has been previously estimated that 70% of sepsis cases are commonly acquired in the community (67), little is known about the incidence, mortality, attributable length of hospital stay, and microbiological profile of health care-associated sepsis (HA-sepsis). Although HA-sepsis is not a distinct physiological type of sepsis, it affects all patient populations and is an avoidable cause of sepsis. A WHO systematic literature review on the global epidemiology and burden of HA-sepsis published between 2000 and 2018 showed that among all hospital-treated sepsis cases, 23.6% were health care-associated, with a pooled hospital incidence of 15.4 cases per 1000 patients of all HA-sepsis (68). In this systematic review, health care- and ICU-associated sepsis were defined as cases acquired in the health care setting, including ICUs (ICU-associated was considered as a subset of infections/sepsis acquired during ICU stay). Most hospital-wide and ICU-based studies were conducted in high-income countries, in particular from the European and American WHO regions (Fig. 2.4.1).

This first comprehensive summary of published evidence on the epidemiology of HA-sepsis found that 1 in 4 cases of sepsis were acquired in the hospital, increasing to 1 in 2 in ICUs for sepsis with organ dysfunction. Moreover, patients with HA-sepsis had a longer length of stay and high AMR rates, which can significantly impact on patient outcomes.



AMR: antimicrobial resistance.

#### Fig. 2.4.1 Location and type of studies reporting hospital-acquired sepsis.



The review also identified high-risk populations. The pooled incidence of HA-sepsis in neonates was 112.9 cases per 1000 ICU-treated neonates, and 56.6% of all types of HAIs were found to be neonatal HA-sepsis, thus suggesting that the burden of HAIs is even greater for neonates. Additionally, the review found that the risk of developing sepsis in ICUs was greater: the pooled incidence of ICU-acquired sepsis was 35.8 cases per 1000 ICU patients; in the ICU, 24.4% of cases of sepsis with organ dysfunction were acquired during ICU stay and 48.7% had a hospital origin *(68)*. A few studies provided information on the population-level burden of HA-sepsis treated in ICUs (range, 13.8 to 175.0 cases per 100 000 adult population per year), while one reported the population-level burden for ICU-acquired sepsis (46.6 cases per 100 000 adult population per year).

Sepsis	in in	tensive	care	units	(ICUs)
--------	-------	---------	------	-------	--------

24.4%of cases of sepsis with organ dysfunction were acquired during ICU stay48.7%had a hospital origin

While no study investigated the attributable case fatality due to HA-sepsis, the review's pooled crude mortality of sepsis patients was 24.4% and as high as 52.5% in cases with septic shock (although the latter is based on one study only). ICU-acquired sepsis was reported to be associated with a higher risk of mortality (40.5%). Among ICU-treated patients with HA-sepsis, including cases acquired in hospital wards and the ICU, the pooled mortality was 52.3%. HA-sepsis was also associated with a longer length of hospital stay for survivors. The median length of stay of hospitalized patients with HA-sepsis ranged between 17 and 22 days, which was two-to three-fold higher than that of patients with community-acquired sepsis in the same studies. A considerably longer median length of stay was found in ICU patients with ICU-acquired sepsis (median range, 18 to 23 days) compared to that of ICU patients with community-acquired sepsis (9 days). Only a few studies provided data on the microbiological profile of pathogens causing HA-sepsis and found that 16% to 40%, 34% to 64%, and 9% to 19% of cases were caused by
Gram-positive bacteria, Gram-negative bacteria, and fungi, respectively. Up to a one-third of cases were caused by drug-resistant bacteria, such as ESBL-producing *Enterobacteriaceae*, MRSA, and multidrug-resistant *Pseudomonas* spp.

Sepsis and mortality	
24.4%	mortality of patients with HA-sepsis
52.3%	mortality among ICU-treated patients with HA-sepsis
2x to 3x	higher median length of stay of patients with HA-sepsis compared to community-acquired sepsis
Up to one third	of HA-sepsis cases were caused by drug-resistant bacteria

HA-sepsis: health care-associated sepsis. ICU: intensive care unit.

These findings highlight that HA-sepsis is a common complication in patient care and is difficult to treat once it develops, particularly in ICUs. The results of this review underline the importance of appropriate IPC measures in health care settings to prevent HA-sepsis and reduce its impact on patients and health care in general.



## Part 3. Methodologies and challenges in sepsis epidemiology research

## 3.1 Methodologies to estimate the epidemiology and burden of sepsis

#### Box 3.1 Methodologies to assess the global epidemiology and burden of sepsis

- A majority of sepsis epidemiological analyses
  - are based on systematic reviews of the literature,
  - include primarily observational cohort or cross-sectional studies,
  - rely on ICD codes for sepsis case detection, and
  - include a limited number of studies from low- and middle-income countries.
- The **GBD sepsis study** estimated sepsis incidence with sepsis-related case-fatality from hospital administrative data and sepsis-related mortality using multiple sources of cause-of-death vital registration data.
- A good example of reconciling different data sources and taking into account the systematic biases associated with the various types of data are the estimates on neonatal, child and adolescent mortality produced by the UN IGME.
- WHO prospective, multi-centre, multi-country studies include the AFRINEST, SATT, GLOSS, and MCS-A studies.

ICD: International Classification of Diseases; GBD: global burden of disease, injuries, and risk factors; UN IGME: United Nations Inter-Agency Group for Child Mortality Estimation; AFRINEST: African Neonatal Sepsis Trial; SATT: Simplified Antibiotic Therapy Trial; GLOSS: Global Maternal Sepsis Study; MCS-A: Multi-Country Survey on Abortion.

Reliable estimates of the global epidemiology and burden of sepsis depend on the quality of individual studies and the data sources. The majority of analyses aimed at estimating the epidemiological impact of sepsis are based on systematic reviews of the literature. For example, this report refers to at least eight original and updated reviews (10, 11, 44, 55, 57, 59, 68, 69) that were either general or targeting specific patient populations, settings and geographical areas. All reviews attempted meta-analyses (many with random effects), but consistently found high between-study heterogeneity.

Reliable estimates of the global epidemiology and burden of sepsis depend on the quality of individual studies and the data sources.

Results of the systematic reviews of the literature showed that many published studies were observational cohort or cross-sectional studies, mostly from HICs, based on hospital coding data. These studies and officially reported data often rely on the use of ICD codes for sepsis case detection, rather than on the prospective collection of clinical information. Coding data are inherently biased; sepsis-specific codes underestimate disease prevalence, while a combination of sepsis-specific codes and indirect codes (for example, counting an infection code and an organ dysfunction code in the same hospital encounter as sepsis) overestimate it. Other data sources available in many countries include censuses, surveys and vital registration systems. Studies on sepsis epidemiology among neonatal ICU or ICU-treated patients are often conducted with prospective designs, but generally produce estimates that are specific to a setting and geographical area.

One method for providing global estimates of sepsis cases and deaths has been applying the population-based incidence pooled from meta-analyses based on systematic reviews to the world population or the population of specific geographical areas, such as Europe (10, 11). Another approach is the one used in the recent **GBD sepsis study** (4).

# The GBD sepsis study provides global estimates based on vital registration deaths records.

Similar to other GBD studies, modelling was based on vital registration death records in an attempt to represent deaths in and out of hospital, the latter being a common occurrence in LMICs. Sepsis-related mortality was estimated using multiple cause-of-death vital registration data, and sepsis incidence was estimated from death data using sepsis-related case-fatality estimates from hospital administrative data. Although these estimates still depend on the quality of medical documentation and the ICD coding system, this approach ensures that deaths are not counted twice and allows comparisons with other GBD outputs.

A major challenge faced by global sepsis epidemiology researchers is reconciling differences across data sources, while taking into account the systematic biases associated with the various types of data. The estimates on neonatal, child and adolescent mortality produced by the WHO MCEE group based on the UN IGME data represent an excellent example of reconciling such differences across data sources. The UN IGME follows these steps: 1) compile and assess the quality and representativeness of all available data at the national level relevant to the estimation of child mortality; 2) recalculate data inputs and make adjustments as needed by applying standard methods; 3) fit a statistical model to these data to generate a smooth trend curve that averages potentially disparate estimates from the different data sources for a given country (Bayesian spline regression model); and 4) extrapolate the model to a target year. This method is applied across all countries, although the resulting country-specific estimates are not reported as national representativeness is deemed not of sufficient quality.

There are some examples of good-quality studies that prospectively collect clinical data.

Examples of good-quality studies that prospectively collect clinical data are the abovementioned multicentre and multi-country trials of **AFRINEST** in Africa (38, 39) and Simplified Antibiotic Therapy Trial (**SATT**) (40, 41) in Asia. The aim of these trials was to evaluate the safety and effectiveness of simplified antibiotic regimens for the management of young infants less than two months of age with severe clinical infection (that is PSBI, which can be indicative of sepsis) when referral was not feasible. A longitudinal analysis of the surveillance data was performed to calculate incidence rates and attributable mortality for each sign of infection and stratified by week of life. Based on these studies, WHO launched a new guideline for the management of infants with PSBI when referral is not feasible (*36*). Eleven sites are now testing the implementation of these guidelines and will provide more robust epidemiological data.

Another example of a prospective study was the **GLOSS study** (60, 63). This was a facilitybased, prospective, one-week inception cohort study of all women with suspected or confirmed infection during any stage of pregnancy and up to the 42nd day after end of pregnancy who were admitted to or already hospitalized in participating health facilities across selected geographical areas in 52 LMICs. Women were followed-up to six weeks or until hospital discharge, transfer or death, whichever occurred sooner. Overall ratios of maternal suspected or confirmed infections, including those that evolved to sepsis, were estimated per 1000 live births in a health care facility from 2016 (most recent available data), and fatality rates were stratified by country income. The study researchers used "near-miss" (see glossary) to define sepsis, as it is accepted obstetric terminology, validated in low-resource settings and reflects organ dysfunction. The study represents a unique overview of maternal infections including sepsis, across different severities throughout pregnancy, childbirth and the postpartum/post-abortion period. However, the study did not capture maternal infection-related deaths that occurred in the community.

Created by the WHO and Drugs for Neglected Diseases initiative, the Global Antibiotic Research and Development Partnership (**GARDP**) is collaborating with partners to conduct a prospective longitudinal cohort study of neonates with sepsis. Daily clinical and antimicrobial data, and routine laboratory and microbiology data were collected for up to 28 days following diagnosis of sepsis. A total of 3204 babies were enrolled by 19 hospitals in 11 countries (five WHO regions) between August 2018 and February 2020. The data obtained from the study are currently being analysed and it is anticipated that they will be published in 2021.



0

## **3.2 Limitations in current estimates of burden of sepsis**

## Box 3.2 Data limitations and knowledge gaps in current estimates of burden of sepsis

Limitations of the current sepsis estimates are due to:

- a lack of sepsis epidemiologic data from most LMICs for the calculations of the global estimates;
- heterogeneous study designs and differences across data sources;
- most studies are intensive care- and hospital-based that do not capture sepsis cases occurring outside the hospital setting, limiting our understanding of community-acquired sepsis;
- the use of different sepsis definitions across studies, as well as a lack of a validated neonatal sepsis definition;
- a reliance on limited, retrospective administrative data;
- a lack of a standardized and complete reporting of designs and results.

Important knowledge gaps include:

- lack of data and understanding of the real burden of sepsis in LMICs;
- the proportion of sepsis-attributable mortality measured accurately and prospectively in all populations, including different age populations, particularly in high-risk and disadvantaged populations;
- the burden of long-term outcomes and sequelae of sepsis patients;
- aetiology and antimicrobial resistance patterns.

LMIC: low- and middle-income country.

Although the understanding of sepsis epidemiology has improved over recent years, there are still major knowledge gaps regarding the burden of sepsis in individual countries and across the world.

# There are still major knowledge gaps regarding the burden of sepsis in individual countries, in particular LMICs.

LMICs: low- and middle-income countries.

Data on sepsis epidemiology are missing from most LMICs (10, 11, 44, 69), although they bear the highest burden of sepsis (4). Systematic reviews have consistently found that a limited number of studies from LMICs contribute to sepsis estimates, a finding that did not substantially change after expanding and targeting search terms and databases (11, 44). Furthermore, the estimates of the GBD sepsis study included limited data from LMICs: modelling data for sepsis incidence were extrapolated from 10 countries (Austria, Brazil, Canada, Chile, Georgia, Italy, Mexico, New Zealand, Philippines, United States of America [USA]) and data for sepsis mortality were extrapolated from only four countries (that is, Brazil, Taiwan [China], USA and Mexico), none of which are low-income countries or located in sub-Saharan Africa.

Even in a well-resourced setting, a considerable proportion of sepsis deaths occurred outside the hospital setting (13% in one US-based study) (70), and yet most sepsis epidemiology studies

use ICU- and hospital-based designs. The epidemiology of community-based sepsis is not well understood, but of high relevance, particularly in countries with limited access to health care and/or for disadvantaged populations.

# The epidemiology of community-based sepsis is not well understood, but of high relevance.

Knowledge gaps also include the proportion of sepsis attributable mortality and the burden of long-term outcomes and sequelae of sepsis patients (22), which include cognitive, mental and physical illness, as well as hospital readmissions, mostly for recurrent infectious diseases, thus leading to an impaired quality of life in sepsis survivors (71).

Results from existing sepsis epidemiology studies vary largely and frequently cannot be compared given heterogeneous study designs and sepsis definitions applied (10).

## Results from existing sepsis epidemiology studies vary largely and frequently cannot be compared due to methods heterogeneity.

One of the reasons leading to heterogeneity is that with the evolving understanding of sepsis pathophysiology and the lack of a definitive diagnostic test, the definition has changed multiple times over the past several decades, most recently in 2016 when the Sepsis-3 definition was published (3). Not all elements of this definition can be applied in low-resource settings where access to appropriate diagnostics and laboratories is often limited and the sensitivity of sepsis diagnosis is hampered (72). For neonates, there is currently no validated sepsis definition and the application of existing definitions in LMICs settings is unknown. For children, most studies use a definition published in 2005 (30) that might be too sensitive (73). These limitations lead to heterogeneous methods of diagnosing sepsis (74), hindering our understanding of epidemiological variations that may be due either to reporting and study methodologies, or to different disease burden across geographical areas.

An increasing body of research is based on administrative data and identifies sepsis based on hospital discharge codes instead of a prospective collection of data (10). Although this approach allows for nationwide analyses of sepsis epidemiology, discharge codes are often collected for reimbursement reasons rather than for clinical or research purposes and, thus, are prone to bias and limited by the quality of documentation. Depending on the strategy used to identify sepsis patients through these data, estimates on incidence and mortality differ considerably (75). Most administrative data-based studies do not distinguish between hospital- and community-acquired sepsis or assess underlying pathogens and antimicrobial resistance patterns. Prospective, chart- or electronic-health record-based research would circumvent these limitations, but the capacity to run such studies varies between countries and regions and quality is dependent on the availability of trained investigators and research funding.

Another limitation of current research is the lack of a standardized and complete reporting of designs and results. Global extrapolations to estimate the burden of sepsis cases and deaths worldwide (4, 10) are hampered by the scarcity of data input, in particular from LMICs, and an

unknown representativeness of single countries or individual studies due to small sample size or single-centre design on which these extrapolations are based. Study design also has a major impact on our understanding of the disabilities and mortality related to sepsis. Short- and longterm consequences need standardized and longer follow-up periods, which are expensive to conduct. Furthermore, natural variation, such as underlying conditions, age and other patient characteristics, together with differences in settings, information on antimicrobial susceptibility, treatment, and access to health care are often not clearly defined, standardized or reported, limiting the generalizability of the burden of sepsis.

# Global estimates of the burden of sepsis cases and deaths worldwide are hampered by the scarcity of data input, in particular from LMICs.

LMICs: low- and middle-income countries.



## Part 4. Directions and priorities for future sepsis epidemiology research

#### 4.1 Achieving standardization in sepsis epidemiology research and closing existing gaps

#### Box 4.1 Research standardization and closing existing gaps

To improve comparability and reliability of sepsis data for diagnosis, reporting and study design, the following are needed:

- An improved, standardized definition of sepsis and organ dysfunction that is more applicable to low-resource settings, including ICD1-11 codes and terminology and potentially a stepwise or tiered approach to sepsis definitions.
- Improved quality and design of epidemiological studies, especially those conducted in LMICs given the lack of data in these settings.
- Standardization of study designs and reporting of data.
- Improved access to reliable, affordable and suitable in vitro diagnostics at all levels of care.
- Improved surveillance systems starting at the primary care level that leverage existing programmes and disease networks.
- Consider the role and inclusion of sepsis surveillance, prevention and treatment in existing national and international programmes and action plans (for example, AMR, patient safety, UHC, WASH, IPC, maternal and child health programmes).
- Consistent testing and reporting of the causative organism(s) and susceptibility profiles.
- Comprehensive, standardized collection and reporting of clinical data and multiple causes of death.
- Longer patient follow-up or surveillance/reporting systems that link acute events with chronic sequelae.
- ICD-11 implementation and linkage to an individual's medical record.

ICD: International Classification of Diseases; LMIC: low- and middle-income country; AMR: antimicrobial resistance; UHC: universal health coverage; WASH: water, sanitation and hygiene; IPC: infection prevention and control.

Standardization of sepsis epidemiology research is essential to compare rates across age, sex, socioeconomic strata, health care settings, education level and work experience, for example. A number of crucial elements would improve comparability and reliability of sepsis data for diagnosis, reporting and study design.

Standardization of sepsis epidemiology research is essential to enable comparisons of studies and their findings.

The first element relates to the current definition of sepsis, in particular measuring organ dysfunction, and improvements needed to make it more applicable in low-resource settings. A stepwise or tiered approach to sepsis definitions ranging from criteria based solely on clinical features (for example, signs and symptoms) to those that include clinical features and laboratory results, could be a viable solution. One example is the PSBI classification for newborns and young infants that is based on clinical signs at presentation and intended for front-line providers at the primary level in resource-limited settings. Another example is a clinical sign-based approach to measuring organ dysfunction using capillary refill time as opposed to a laboratorybased approach measuring serial blood lactate levels (76), which has previously been shown to be equivalent in terms of outcomes when used for targeted resuscitation in sepsis. This approach would enable reporting of sepsis in settings where access to diagnostics is limited and would allow for more data from LMICs to be included in epidemiological studies. Moreover, a purely clinical sepsis case definition coupled with empowerment of nursing staff to actively screen and identify sepsis would facilitate early treatment, ultimately improving survival and preventing short- and long-term complications. It should be emphasized that the further any definition is from routine data collection, the longer it will take to adopt it into clinical practice. Furthermore, consensus is needed to achieve a standardized definition of sepsis in neonates and update the paediatric sepsis definition.

Currently, knowledge of sepsis epidemiology is hampered by the fact that areas with the highest sepsis burden (in LMICs) are also the areas where data are lacking. Research on the impact of sepsis in LMICs is urgently needed and calls for increased funding, as well as renewed opportunities for strengthening the professional, academic and diagnostic capacity in these countries. It is important to consider that the quality of research is related to its standardization, such as the STROBE (Strengthening the Reporting of Observational studies in Epidemiology) neonatal infection statement for cohort (77), observational and cross-sectional studies.

Sepsis affects some populations more than others and individuals with sepsis are also often affected by other diseases. For example, neonates, women in the peripartum period, and patients in ICUs are at higher risk of developing sepsis and initial efforts to improve surveillance should concentrate on these populations. Specific surveillance programmes and disease networks (for example, maternal and child health, human immunodeficiency virus, tuberculosis, AMR) are already in place and sepsis should either be linked to these systems (if a dedicated surveillance system for sepsis already exists) or incorporated into existing reporting measures. Similarly, given the cross-cutting nature of sepsis, international and national action plans should include sepsis as an outcome and complicating factor of other diseases and align efforts to prevent and manage sepsis within existing networks, initiatives and programmes. This effort should be extended to include sepsis within indicators for achieving the SDGs and UHC initiatives.

Sepsis surveillance should either be linked to (if existing) or integrated into other diseases surveillance systems.

Moreover, in the context of rising AMR, the collection of information on the causative organisms and their susceptibility profiles is essential to inform treatment and epidemiological patterns of sepsis. Pathogen identification and determining susceptibility/resistance patterns can be problematic where diagnostic capacity is limited and entails scaling-up local laboratory capacity. Collection, completeness, reporting, and analysis of medical records are often limited in LMICs and addressing this issue would require an increase in the availability of logistic enablers (for example, electronic record systems) and training of staff. Globally, these efforts are already ongoing through the implementation of GLASS *(28)*, which represents an opportunity for data collection on incident cases of bloodstream infections, a common cause of sepsis.

Apart from clinical features, sex and age, standardized reporting should strive to collect data on comorbidities, pregnancy status and level of care, in addition to other information that should be explored. For example, the lack of information on the source of infection (community- or hospital-acquired) impedes the identification of the appropriate preventive measures. Furthermore, collection of indicators, such as re-hospitalization rates, for example, would be useful to inform the improvement of in-hospital treatment and clinical management. For instance, all patients admitted with suspicion of sepsis could trigger a series of monitoring and treatment initiatives, which in turn would increase reporting of data, provide information for improving the overall quality of care of sepsis, and enable data-directed investigation of the drivers of sepsis.

## Completeness and quality of reporting should be improved with standardized data collection of a number of variables, such as comorbidities, source of infection, pregnancy status, etc.

Regardless of the availability of health care resources, few countries report and share data on multiple causes of death. Sepsis is usually considered a transitory response of the body and can be associated with other underlying conditions. Moreover, longer life expectancy, modern invasive medical technology and pharmaceuticals, and the improved survival of very low birthweight and sick neonates, for example, have increased the number of patients with other conditions who are at risk for sepsis. It is crucial that reporting systems and collection of data acknowledge these linkages. The new ICD-11 system (78) introduced the possibility to convey patient case-mix and appropriately describe the complexity of multiple causes of disease and death. Post-coordination allows for additional data collection including the underlying condition, disease association or infectious aetiology, when relevant, while affording a granularity of data not previously possible, thus improving clinical recording and research. Another application for ICD-11 is that it is easily incorporated into clinical record systems or accessed on a browser from anywhere in the world. This ease of access represents an opportunity for clinicians and researchers to improve the analysis of sepsis as a risk factor for death and long-term sequelae and to harmonize sepsis under one diagnosis code. This uniform approach will allow epidemiologists, researchers and clinicians to measure more comprehensively and accurately the burden of sepsis by capturing sepsis-related mortality, rather than being limited to measuring sepsis as a direct cause of death. The lack of evidence on the characteristics and impact of non-fatal outcomes after sepsis requires either tailored research that includes longer follow-up of patients or surveillance and reporting systems linking acute events with chronic sequelae. The implementation of ICD-11 into clinical electronic medical records systems should be complemented by linking an individual's medical records from primary care, acute care, laboratory and other diagnostic services. Ultimately, the resulting data could also be analysed to estimate sepsis-attributable mortality and long-term sequelae, key information that is currently lacking.

Results of the systematic reviews and other studies described in Part 2 of this report suggest that a significant burden of sepsis arises in the community setting. It seems crucial, therefore, that surveillance and data collection start in primary care, which commonly represents the first point of contact with the health care system. Primary and acute health care centres could increase their role as gatekeeper for the diagnosis, collation of information and tracing of patients, in addition to performing community outreach and sensitization, especially when

referral to a higher level of care is not feasible. Considering the high burden that sepsis poses on health systems and populations, it should be a priority outcome to be improved in the context of achieving UHC and quality of care improvement.



## 4.2 Towards comprehensive global sepsis monitoring

Improving research and, thus, evidence on the epidemiology of sepsis will inform its prevention, diagnosis and management. For example, better knowledge of sepsis risk factors and outcomes would help prevent its occurrence in at-risk populations. Sepsis prevention could be reinforced by investigating vaccine-preventable infections that frequently cause sepsis and epidemiological knowledge of sepsis aetiology could inform more tailored and effective vaccination campaigns. Understanding the causative organisms for sepsis enables tailored antibiotic stewardship and could help prevent the emergence of AMR. Sepsis epidemiology research would also help to identify optimal populations for clinical trials to test diagnostic biomarkers (for example, C-reactive protein, lactate, procalcitonin), which could aid for an earlier recognition of sepsis, thus ultimately improving outcomes. Finally, considering the recent GBD sepsis study results, an improved understanding of NCD and injury prevention and management could play a significant role in decreasing sepsis incidence and related mortality.

# Improving research on sepsis epidemiology and burden is critical to inform interventions for its prevention, diagnosis and management.

A complete picture of the impact of sepsis (prevalence, incidence, mortality, length of stay, morbidity, long-/short-term sequelae, and economic impact) requires more evidence on its epidemiology, in particular in LMICs, which carry the heaviest burden. To achieve this goal, a global effort to scale-up advocacy and funding for generating sepsis epidemiology evidence is urgently needed.

# A global effort to scale-up advocacy and funding for generating sepsis epidemiology evidence is urgently needed.

Inclusion of sepsis as a health threat in national and global action plans and the development of strategies on sepsis would support awareness efforts. The goal should be to build competencies for designing high-quality studies, strengthening diagnostic and reporting capacity (for example, workforce, logistics and laboratory), and ensuring continuous education and training on epidemiology. Further research to elucidate the burden of sepsis in LMICs is critical and should assess at-risk groups, risk factors, causative organisms, attributable mortality and long-term complications. Increased, as well as more coordinated, financial and technical support is needed from national and international non-governmental organizations, educational institutions and relevant sepsis foundations. A practical initial step would be mapping the researchers and institutions active in the field of sepsis epidemiology research.

Monitoring sepsis requires robust surveillance systems specifically targeting sepsis, as well as ensuring that it is included in other surveillance systems and initiatives.

For example, sepsis research would profit from integrating into UHC surveillance and guality of care improvement programmes. Initially, sentinel sites could be a solution in countries wishing to rapidly improve sepsis surveillance. However, to achieve adequate sepsis monitoring, several enablers need to be in place. First, standardized and validated case definitions need to be developed (for example, for neonatal sepsis), implemented globally and adapted to settings with limited access to diagnostics. For example, an international organization such as WHO could play a role in reaching consensus on clinical or tiered sepsis definitions for different age groups that are applicable in low-resource settings. Second, this activity could be developed in parallel to a simplification of ICD coding together with a standardized ICD case identification strategy for both morbidity and mortality. ICD-11 was adopted at the 72nd World Health Assembly for implementation by countries from January 2022. This revised version has reviewed sepsis in the classification system to reflect changes in medicine and science since the ICD-10 version. Considering the opportunities within ICD-11, WHO and stakeholders should encourage the implementation of ICD-11 to report data on multiple causes of death in a standardized manner at the international level. Third, establishing a core, minimal dataset for sepsis reporting and its integration within existing health demographic survey networks and disease-specific surveillance networks (for example, human immunodeficiency virus and tuberculosis) and initiatives (for example, AMR) could complement institutional reporting and improve data quality. Information on sepsis originating from these networks would improve the guality of reported data through triangulation and indirect validation. Ultimately, ensuring that sepsis events are captured in other databases could increase overall available information on the morbidity and mortality due to sepsis. Moreover, this would contribute to strengthening national capacity for better health information systems, vital statistics and administrative data. Finally, WHO collaboration with existing stakeholders (organizations, foundations, universities, etc.) active in the field of sepsis could further enhance the global sepsis network and improve coordination of research efforts.

> A rapid, accurate diagnosis of sepsis improves clinical outcomes and represents a priority for both surveillance and clinical management, particularly in at-risk patients.

Timely diagnosis of sepsis critically increases the chance of survival and is a pillar of quality care in the clinical management of sepsis. The ideal diagnostic test for infections that cause sepsis would: 1) rapidly identify pathogens broadly (bacteria, virus, parasite, fungi); 2) be highly sensitive and specific so as to guide antimicrobial therapy, limit antibiotic overuse, and inhibit AMR development; 3) use readily available clinical samples (for example, whole blood) that do not require processing or culture; 4) allow detection of multiple pathogens simultaneously; 5) detect drug susceptibility and resistance; 6) be simple to use with minimum training required; and 7) be relatively low cost. However, many existing diagnostics, are considered too costly and technology-dependent to be realistic in LMICs. Biomarkers have been an area of intense research among sepsis investigators, but they are not affordable or sufficiently relevant so far. Further research and additional funding are therefore critical to be able to develop and implement rapid, low-cost and simple-to-use sepsis diagnostics that are appropriate across settings and resource levels.

A rapid, accurate diagnosis of sepsis improves clinical outcomes and represents a priority for both surveillance and clinical management, particularly in at-risk patients. Ensuring that clinical information is linked to microbiological results would reinforce sepsis surveillance while improving clinical care. Eventually, this integrated approach will improve data from hospitals, which are the foundation for sepsis epidemiology research. Better tools are needed to assess sepsis identification and management, indicators on quality of care, and the impact of different service delivery models. Furthermore, new diagnostic biomarkers could represent an opportunity for improving timely and targeted treatment and should be included in surveillance data when available.

### There are short- and long-term priorities for sepsis epidemiology research.

Clearly, more high-quality data on sepsis epidemiology is needed at the global and national level and funding for this represents an urgent short-term priority, particularly in LMICs as they would reap the most benefit from the advocacy and assistance generated by similar initiatives (for example, GLASS). This entails the integration of ICD-11 coding at all levels of surveillance and considering the implementation of a case definition for sepsis surveillance relevant to all age groups across all settings. Furthermore, epidemiological studies should be designed according to existing tools (for example, STROBE) to ensure that evidence is standardized and of high-quality.

Efforts to strengthen capacity related to initiatives such as those related to AMR, patient safety and universal health coverage, could be an opportunity to include and define the role of sepsis prevention and treatment, particularly in low-resource settings.

In the longer term, our understanding of sepsis will depend upon evidence generated on health complications following sepsis events and their impact on patient quality of life. Information on the drivers, determinants and populations at risk of developing sepsis would also be crucial. Importantly, generating evidence on the causative organisms of sepsis will help the development of diagnostic and prognostic tests that can be used rapidly, such as biomarkers. These have the potential to greatly improve appropriate and early treatment, thus saving lives.



## Conclusions

Approximately 20% of all-cause global deaths are due to sepsis and are largely preventable. Sepsis disproportionately affects vulnerable populations such as neonates, pregnant or recently-pregnant women, and populations living in LMICs. Yet, our current understanding of the epidemiology of sepsis is limited by poor quality data, particularly where the burden is highest, which illustrates the urgent need for this report.

At the 70th World Health Assembly in May 2017, WHO Member States endorsed resolution 70.7 "Improving the prevention, diagnosis and clinical management of sepsis" asking WHO to **"draw attention to the public health impact of sepsis, including by publishing a report on sepsis describing its global epidemiology and impact on the burden of disease**" (9). This report on global sepsis epidemiology is based on several published original research and systematic literature reviews.

This report has shown that more tools are necessary to align and improve the understanding and homogeneous applicability of sepsis case definitions, particularly for low-resource settings. Sepsis case definitions have changed over time, differ according to age groups, and have been applied differently, depending on the level of diagnostic capacity. In general, official reporting is suboptimal and incomplete because it is often limited to hospitals or influenced by reimbursement incentives. Moreover, the design of studies changes frequently, as well as the data sources and setting.

Our knowledge of the role of sepsis in the causal pathway to disabilities, long-term complications and death is limited. Short- and long-term consequences need standardized and longer followup times, which are expensive. Furthermore, natural variations such as underlying conditions, age and other patient characteristics, together with differences in settings, treatment and access to health care, are often not clearly defined or standardized, limiting the generalizability of the burden of sepsis.

This report clearly identifies a number of priority actions and short-term results that could be achieved if countries act swiftly in a concerted effort. At the global level, more surveillance and evidence on the sepsis burden of disease is needed through increased awareness and funding that promotes high-quality research across all settings, but with a particular focus on LMICs. This will be achieved through clear consensus on age-specific sepsis definitions, implementation of the ICD-11 classification and promotion of high-quality epidemiological studies. Finally, sepsis should be included in all public health efforts such as national action plans, UHC, AMR, IPC, and WASH. In lower-resource settings, epidemiology research should target population-based studies as the burden of community-based sepsis is higher, be linked to existing surveillance efforts (such as GLASS) and be supported by a strengthened laboratory capacity.

Together with promoting IPC and immunizations to prevent sepsis and improving clinical management, determining the impact of sepsis is necessary to provide a baseline and measure interventions, ultimately ensuring that patients receive the most effective care. Preventing and improving outcomes from sepsis is a priority in achieving UHC and quality of care improvement.

## References

- Bone RC, Balk RA, Cerra FB, Dellinger RP, Fein AM, Knaus WA, et al. Definitions for sepsis and organ failure and guidelines for the use of innovative therapies in sepsis. The ACCP/SCCM Consensus Conference Committee. American College of Chest Physicians/Society of Critical Care Medicine. Chest. 1992;101(6):1644-55.
- Levy MM, Fink MP, Marshall JC, Abraham E, Angus D, Cook D, et al. 2001 SCCM/ESICM/ACCP/ATS/SIS International Sepsis Definitions Conference. Crit Care Med. 2003;31(4):1250-6.
- Singer M, Deutschman CS, Seymour CW, Shankar-Hari M, Annane D, Bauer M, et al. The Third International Consensus Definitions for Sepsis and Septic Shock (Sepsis-3). JAMA. 2016;315(8):801-10.
- Rudd KE, Johnson SC, Agesa KM, Shackelford KA, Tsoi D, Kievlan DR, et al. Global, regional, and national sepsis incidence and mortality, 1990-2017: analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study. Lancet. 2020;395(10219):200-11.
- 5. Arefian H, Heublein S, Scherag A, Brunkhorst FM, Younis MZ, Moerer O, et al. Hospital-related cost of sepsis: A systematic review. J Infect. 2017;74(2):107-17.
- United Nations. Sustainable Development Goal 3. (<u>https://sustainabledevelopment.un.org/sdg3</u>; accessed 1 September 2020).
- Global action plan on antimicrobial resistance. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2015. (<u>https://www.who.int/antimicrobial-resistance/global-action-plan/en/</u>, accessed 13 August 2020).
- International Health Regulations (2005), Second Edition. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2008 (<u>https://www.who.int/ihr/9789241596664/en/</u>, accessed 13 August 2020).
- Resolution WHA70.7. In: Seventieth World Health Assembly, Geneva, 22-31 May 2017 (<u>http://apps.who.</u> <u>int/gb/ebwha/pdf\_files/WHA70/A70\_R7-en.pdf</u>, accessed 13 August 2020).
- Fleischmann C, Scherag A, Adhikari NK, Hartog CS, Tsaganos T, Schlattmann P, et al. Assessment of global incidence and mortality of hospital-treated sepsis. Current estimates and limitations. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2016;193(3):259-72.
- Fleischmann-Struzek C, Mellhammar L, Rose N, Cassini A, Rudd KE, Schlattmann P, et al. Incidence and mortality of hospital- and ICU-treated sepsis: results from an updated and expanded systematic review and meta-analysis. Intensive Care Med. 2020;46:1552-62.
- **12.** Noncommunicable diseases country profiles 2018. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2018.
- **13.** Rhee C, Dantes R, Epstein L, Murphy DJ, Seymour CW, Iwashyna TJ, et al. Incidence and trends of sepsis in US hospitals using clinical vs claims data, 2009-2014. JAMA. 2017;318(13):1241-9.
- Todorovic Markovic M, Pedersen C, Gottfredsson M, Todorovic Mitic M, Gaini S. Epidemiology of community-acquired sepsis in the Faroe Islands - a prospective observational study. Infect Dis. 2019;51(1):38-49.
- Henriksen DP, Laursen CB, Jensen TG, Hallas J, Pedersen C, Lassen AT. Incidence rate of communityacquired sepsis among hospitalized acute medical patients-a population-based survey. Crit Care Med. 2015;43(1):13-21.
- Mellhammar L, Wullt S, Lindberg A, Lanbeck P, Christensson B, Linder A. Sepsis incidence: a population-based study. Open Forum Infect Dis. 2016;3(4):ofw207.
- 17. Prescott HC, Langa KM, Liu V, Escobar GJ, Iwashyna TJ. Increased 1-year healthcare use in survivors of severe sepsis. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2014;190(1):62-9.
- **18.** Prescott HC, Osterholzer JJ, Langa KM, Angus DC, Iwashyna TJ. Late mortality after sepsis: propensity matched cohort study. BMJ. 2016;353:i2375.
- **19.** Iwashyna TJ, Ely EW, Smith DM, Langa KM. Long-term cognitive impairment and functional disability among survivors of severe sepsis. JAMA. 2010;304(16):1787-94.
- **20.** Wintermann GB, Brunkhorst FM, Petrowski K, Strauss B, Oehmichen F, Pohl M, et al. Stress disorders following prolonged critical illness in survivors of severe sepsis. Crit Care Med. 2015;43(6):1213-22.
- **21.** Prescott HC, Langa KM, Iwashyna TJ. Readmission diagnoses after hospitalization for severe sepsis and other acute medical conditions. JAMA. 2015;313(10):1055-7.
- **22.** Prescott HC, Angus DC. Enhancing recovery from sepsis: a review. JAMA. 2018;319(1):62-75.
- **23.** Seymour CW, Gesten F, Prescott HC, Friedrich ME, Iwashyna TJ, Phillips GS, et al. Time to treatment and mortality during mandated emergency care for sepsis. N Engl J Med. 2017;376(23):2235-44.
- 24. Wilson IB, Cleary PD. Linking clinical variables with health-related quality of life. A conceptual model of

patient outcomes. JAMA. 1995;273(1):59-65.

- **25.** Resolution WHA67.25. In: Sixty-seventh World Health Assembly, Geneva, 19-24 May 2014 [http://apps. who.int/gb/ebwha/pdf\_files/WHA67/A67\_R25-en.pdf?ua=1&ua=1, accessed August 2020).
- **26.** Report by the Director General A72/18. Antimicrobial resistance. In: Seventy-second World Health Assembly, Geneva, 20-28 May 2019 (<u>http://apps.who.int/gb/ebwha/pdf\_files/WHA72/A72\_18-en.pdf</u>, accessed 13 August 2020).
- Seventy-first Session of the United Nations General Assembly. New York, 13-16 September 2016 (<u>https://www.who.int/antimicrobial-resistance/events/UNGA-meeting-amr-sept2016/en/</u>, accessed 13 August 2020).
- **28.** Global antimicrobial resistance surveillance system (GLASS) report: early implementation 2020. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2020.
- Allegranzi B, Damani N, Gayet-Ageron A, Stewardson A, Wallace S, Pittet D. World Health Organization period prevalence survey on multidrug-resistant microorganisms in healthcare. 27th European Congress of Clinical Microbiology and Infectious Diseases (ECCMID), Vienna, Austria, 22-25 April 2017. E-poster no. EP049.
- **30.** Goldstein B, Giroir B, Randolph A, International Consensus Conference on Pediatric Sepsis. International pediatric sepsis consensus conference: definitions for sepsis and organ dysfunction in pediatrics. Pediatr Crit Care Med. 2005;6(1):2-8.
- **31.** Weiss SL, Fitzgerald JC, Pappachan J, Wheeler D, Jaramillo-Bustamante JC, Salloo A, et al. Global epidemiology of pediatric severe sepsis: the sepsis prevalence, outcomes, and therapies study. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2015;191(10):1147-57.
- 32. United Nations Inter-agency Group for Child Mortality Estimation (UN IGME). Levels and trends in child mortality: report 2019, estimates developed by the United Nations Inter-agency Group for Child Mortality Estimation. New York, USA: United Nations Children's Fund; 2019 (<u>https://www.unicef.org/sites/default/files/2019-10/UN-IGME-child-mortality-report-2019.pdf</u>, accessed 13 August 2020).
- 33. Liu L, Oza S, Hogan D, Chu Y, Perin J, Zhu J, et al. Global, regional, and national causes of under-5 mortality in 2000-15: an updated systematic analysis with implications for the Sustainable Development Goals. Lancet. 2016;388(10063):3027-35.
- **34.** Shah BA, Padbury JF. Neonatal sepsis: an old problem with new insights. Virulence. 2014;5(1):170-8.
- **35.** Seale AC, Blencowe H, Manu AA, Nair H, Bahl R, Qazi SA, et al. Estimates of possible severe bacterial infection in neonates in sub-Saharan Africa, south Asia, and Latin America for 2012: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Lancet Infect Dis. 2014;14(8):731-41.
- 36. Integrated Management of Childhood Illness: management of the sick young infant aged up to 2 months. IMCI chart booklet. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2019 (<u>https://www.who.int/maternal\_child\_adolescent/documents/management-sick-young-infant-0-2-months/en/</u>, accessed 13 August 2020).
- Seale AC, Blencowe H, Zaidi A, Ganatra H, Syed S, Engmann C, et al. Neonatal severe bacterial infection impairment estimates in South Asia, sub-Saharan Africa, and Latin America for 2010. Pediatr Res. 2013;74 (Suppl 1):73-85.
- **38.** Tshefu A, Lokangaka A, Ngaima S, Engmann C, Esamai F, Gisore P, et al. Simplified antibiotic regimens compared with injectable procaine benzylpenicillin plus gentamicin for treatment of neonates and young infants with clinical signs of possible serious bacterial infection when referral is not possible: a randomised, open-label, equivalence trial. Lancet. 2015;385(9979):1767-76.
- **39.** Tshefu A, Lokangaka A, Ngaima S, Engmann C, Esamai F, Gisore P, et al. Oral amoxicillin compared with injectable procaine benzylpenicillin plus gentamicin for treatment of neonates and young infants with fast breathing when referral is not possible: a randomised, open-label, equivalence trial. Lancet. 2015;385(9979):1758-66.
- 40. Baqui AH, Saha SK, Ahmed AS, Shahidullah M, Quasem I, Roth DE, et al. Safety and efficacy of alternative antibiotic regimens compared with 7 day injectable procaine benzylpenicillin and gentamicin for outpatient treatment of neonates and young infants with clinical signs of severe infection when referral is not possible: a randomised, open-label, equivalence trial. Lancet Glob Health. 2015;3(5):e279-87.
- **41.** Mir F, Nisar I, Tikmani SS, Baloch B, Shakoor S, Jehan F, et al. Simplified antibiotic regimens for treatment of clinical severe infection in the outpatient setting when referral is not possible for young infants in Pakistan (Simplified Antibiotic Therapy Trial [SATT]): a randomised, open-label, equivalence

trial. Lancet Glob Health. 2017;5(2):e177-e85.

- 42. Managing possible serious bacterial infection in young infants when referral is not feasible. Guidelines and WHO/UNICEF recommendations for implementation. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2015 (<u>https://www.who.int/maternal\_child\_adolescent/documents/bacterial-infection-infants/en/</u>, accessed 13 August 2020).
- 43. GBD 2017 Disease and Injury Incidence and Prevalence Collaborators. Global, regional, and national incidence, prevalence, and years lived with disability for 354 diseases and injuries for 195 countries and territories, 1990-2017: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2017. Lancet. 2018;392(10159):1789-858.
- **44.** Fleischmann-Struzek C, Reichert F, Cassini A, Harder T, Kissoon N, Reinhart K, et al. Global assessment of neonatal sepsis incidence and case fatality. 30th European Congress of Clinical Microbiology and Infectious Diseases. Paris, France, 18-21 April 2020: abstract no. 7115.
- **45.** Bizzarro MJ, Raskind C, Baltimore RS, Gallagher PG. Seventy-five years of neonatal sepsis at Yale: 1928-2003. Pediatrics. 2005;116(3):595-602.
- **46.** Baker CJ, Barrett FF. Group B streptococcal infections in infants. The importance of the various serotypes. JAMA. 1974;230(8):1158-60.
- 47. Stoll BJ, Hansen N, Fanaroff AA, Wright LL, Carlo WA, Ehrenkranz RA, et al. Late-onset sepsis in very low birth weight neonates: the experience of the NICHD Neonatal Research Network. Pediatrics. 2002;110(2 Pt 1):285-91.
- **48.** Global Maternal and Neonatal Sepsis Initiative Working Group. The Global Maternal and Neonatal Sepsis Initiative: a call for collaboration and action by 2030. Lancet Glob Health. 2017;5(4):e390-e1.
- **49.** Lawn JE, Bianchi-Jassir F, Russell NJ, Kohli-Lynch M, Tann CJ, Hall J, et al. Group B streptococcal disease worldwide for pregnant women, stillbirths, and children: why, what, and how to undertake estimates? Clin Infect Dis. 2017;65 (Suppl 2):S89-S99.
- Stoll BJ, Hansen NI, Sanchez PJ, Faix RG, Poindexter BB, Van Meurs KP, et al. Early onset neonatal sepsis: the burden of group B Streptococcal and E. coli disease continues. Pediatrics. 2011;127(5):817-26.
- **51.** Gerdes JS. Diagnosis and management of bacterial infections in the neonate. Pediatr Clin North Am. 2004;51(4):939-59, viii-ix.
- **52.** Allegranzi B, Bagheri Nejad S, Combescure C, Graafmans W, Attar H, Donaldson L, et al. Burden of endemic health-care-associated infection in developing countries: systematic review and meta-analysis. Lancet. 2011;377(9761):228-41.
- 53. Report on the burden of endemic health care-associated infection worldwide. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2011 (<u>https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/80135/9789241501507\_eng.pdf;sequence=1</u>, accessed 13 August 2020).
- **54.** Lawn JE, Blencowe H, Oza S, You D, Lee AC, Waiswa P, et al. Every newborn: progress, priorities, and potential beyond survival. Lancet. 2014;384(9938):189-205.
- **55.** Say L, Chou D, Gemmill A, Tuncalp O, Moller AB, Daniels J, et al. Global causes of maternal death: a WHO systematic analysis. Lancet Glob Health. 2014;2(6):e323-33.
- 56. 5Souza JP, Gulmezoglu AM, Vogel J, Carroli G, Lumbiganon P, Qureshi Z, et al. Moving beyond essential interventions for reduction of maternal mortality (the WHO Multicountry Survey on Maternal and Newborn Health): a cross-sectional study. Lancet. 2013;381(9879):1747-55.
- 57. Bonet M, Nogueira Pileggi V, Rijken MJ, Coomarasamy A, Lissauer D, Souza JP, et al. Towards a consensus definition of maternal sepsis: results of a systematic review and expert consultation. Reprod Health. 2017;14(1):67.
- **58.** Statement on maternal sepsis. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2017 (<u>https://apps.who.int/iris/</u><u>bitstream/handle/10665/254608/WHO-RHR-17.02-eng.pdf?sequence=1</u>, accessed 13 August 2020).
- **59.** Woodd SL, Montoya A, Barreix M, Pi L, Calvert C, Rehman AM, et al. Incidence of maternal peripartum infection: a systematic review and meta-analysis. PLoS Med. 2019;16(12):e1002984.
- **60.** Bonet M, Souza JP, Abalos E, Fawole B, Knight M, Kouanda S, et al. The global maternal sepsis study and awareness campaign (GLOSS): study protocol. Reprod Health. 2018;15(1):16.
- **61.** Kim CR, Tuncalp O, Ganatra B, Gulmezoglu AM. WHO Multi-Country Survey on Abortion-related Morbidity and Mortality in Health Facilities: study protocol. BMJ Glob Health. 2016;1(3):e000113.
- **62.** Seymour CW, Liu VX, Iwashyna TJ, Brunkhorst FM, Rea TD, Scherag A, et al. Assessment of clinical criteria for sepsis: For the Third International Consensus Definitions for Sepsis and Septic Shock

(Sepsis-3). JAMA. 2016;315(8):762-74.

- **63.** The WHO Global Maternal Sepsis Study (GLOSS) Research Group. Frequency and management of maternal infection in health facilities in 52 countries (GLOSS): a 1-week inception cohort study. Lancet Glob Health. 2020;8(5):e661-e71.
- **64.** Say L, Souza JP, Pattinson RC. Maternal near miss--towards a standard tool for monitoring quality of maternal health care. Best Pract Res Clin Obst Gynaecol. 2009;23(3):287-96.
- **65.** Ganatra B, Gerdts C, Rossier C, Johnson BR, Jr., Tuncalp O, Assifi A, et al. Global, regional, and subregional classification of abortions by safety, 2010-14: estimates from a Bayesian hierarchical model. Lancet. 2017;390(10110):2372-81.
- 66. United Nations. Report of the International Conference on Population and Development. Cairo, Egypt, 5–13 September 1994 (<u>https://www.un.org/en/development/desa/population/events/pdf/expert/27/</u> <u>SupportingDocuments/A CONF.171 13 Rev.1.pdf</u>, accessed 13 August 2020).
- **67.** Reinhart K, Daniels R, Kissoon N, Machado FR, Schachter RD, Finfer S. Recognizing sepsis as a global health priority a WHO Resolution. N Engl J Med. 2017;377(5):414-7.
- **68.** Markwart R, Saito H, Harder T, Tomczyk S, Cassini A, Fleischmann-Struzek C, et al. Epidemiology and burden of sepsis acquired in hospitals and intensive care units: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Intensive Care Med. 2020;46(8):1536-51.
- **69.** Fleischmann-Struzek C, Goldfarb DM, Schlattmann P, Schlapbach LJ, Reinhart K, Kissoon N. The global burden of paediatric and neonatal sepsis: a systematic review. Lancet Respir Med. 2018;6(3):223-30.
- **70.** Melamed A, Sorvillo FJ. The burden of sepsis-associated mortality in the United States from 1999 to 2005: an analysis of multiple-cause-of-death data. Crit Care. 2009;13(1):R28.
- **71.** Yende S, Austin S, Rhodes A, Finfer S, Opal S, Thompson T, et al. Long-term quality of life among survivors of severe sepsis: analyses of two international trials. Crit Care Med. 2016;44(8):1461-7.
- 72. Machado FR, Assuncao MS, Cavalcanti AB, Japiassu AM, Azevedo LC, Oliveira MC. Getting a consensus: advantages and disadvantages of Sepsis 3 in the context of middle-income settings. Rev Bras Ter Intensiva. 2016;28(4):361-5.
- 73. Kawasaki T. Update on pediatric sepsis: a review. J Intensive Care. 2017;5:47.
- 74. Wynn JL. Defining neonatal sepsis. Curr Opin Pediatr. 2016;28(2):135-40.
- **75.** Gaieski DF, Edwards JM, Kallan MJ, Carr BG. Benchmarking the incidence and mortality of severe sepsis in the United States. Crit Care Med. 2013;41(5):1167-74.
- 76. Hernandez G, Ospina-Tascon GA, Damiani LP, Estenssoro E, Dubin A, Hurtado J, et al. Effect of a resuscitation strategy targeting peripheral perfusion status vs serum lactate levels on 28-day mortality among patients with septic shock: the ANDROMEDA-SHOCK randomized clinical trial. JAMA. 2019;321(7):654-64.
- **77.** Fitchett EJA, Seale AC, Vergnano S, Sharland M, Heath PT, Saha SK, et al. Strengthening the Reporting of Observational Studies in Epidemiology for Newborn Infection (STROBE-NI): an extension of the STROBE statement for neonatal infection research. Lancet Infect Dis. 2016;16(10):e202-e13.
- 78. CD-11 for Mortality and Morbidity Statistics (ICD-11 MMS) 2020 version. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2020 (<u>https://icd.who.int/browse11/l-m/en</u>; accessed 1 September 2020).

